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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) and management of CW Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), I take this opportunity to share with you a brief introduction of our Group, the 
past year in review and the way forward.

BRIEF INTRODUCTION

We are one of the leading one-stop precision engineering solutions providers serving a wide range of industries 
worldwide. Our Group’s core businesses include supplying precision engineering solutions, Computer Numeric 
Control (“CNC”) machining centres, and components and parts, as well as providing comprehensive maintenance 
and after-sales technical support. We serve over 200 diversified customers and our customer base spans across 
various industries, including precision machine tool engineering, electronics/semi-conductor, automotive, oil and gas, 
marine, construction materials, as well as niche markets in aerospace, medical and renewable energy. Our business 
covers markets in European countries such as Germany and Switzerland, as well as in the Asia-Pacific region such 
as the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”), Southeast Asia, Japan and India.

The Group achieved a great milestone on 13 April 2012 when the shares of our Company were successfully listed 
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”). This has strengthened the source 
of capital of our Group, providing a foundation for us to advance business collaborations with our business partners 
to capture opportunities in the precision engineering solutions industry.

BUSINESS REVIEW FOR 2017

2017 was touted as a recovery year of the Group, and this was reflected in the market condition whereby there 
was considerably more demands for CNC machine tools during the year. Despite the uptrend in demands, there was 
insufficient supply to meet the demands, resulting in longer delivery lead time. Due to this shortage, the Group’s 
revenue declined slightly by approximately 5.1% (approximately HK$2,337.3 million and HK$2,462.0 million for 
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively). Despite the slight reduction in revenue, profits for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 increased by 6.3% from the preceding year to approximately HK$249.3 million. 
The increase in profits was largely due to the foreign exchange gains and a gain recorded on partial redemption of 
the notes issued (the “Notes”) during the year (approximately HK$27.4 million and HK$8.5 million respectively), 
and also due partly to the absence of any allowances made impairment in the current year, while allowances of 
approximately HK$5.2 million and HK$29.6 million were made for the year ended 31 December 2016 for the 
impairment of goodwill and impairment of plant and equipment respectively.

The precision engineering solutions projects continue to be the heartbeat of the Group, contributing to 96.5% 
and 91.8% of our total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively. Revenue from the 
precision engineering solutions projects remained relatively constant, dropping slightly by 0.3% from approximately 
HK$2,261.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, to approximately HK$2,254.9 million for the current year.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, we continued to maintain our key markets including Singapore, China, 
Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand. In view of the global uptrend in CNC machine tools, our management remains 
steadfastly confident of the operating environment of our key markets and continues to forge strong bonds with 
our customers, suppliers and working partners, which will enable us to continuously provide premier solutions and 
service offerings in the long term. In addition, new penetration into the European markets is expected to contribute 
positively in the coming years.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

LOOKING FORWARD

Global economic sentiment is more buoyant this year. The broad recovery in investment, manufacturing and trade 
is good news for Asia’s trade-dependent economies which have profited from the strengthening global demand.

The European Union have pledged themselves to the Paris agreement to fight against global warming and their policy 
makers are churning out regulations and hefty taxes to make gasoline and diesel vehicles undesirable to consumers, 
which will eventually drive the gasoline and diesel automotive vehicles out of the European car market as early as 
2025. Automotive manufacturers who saw the dwindling sales and inevitable situation, have set their eyes on the 
Asian markets thus encouraging them to move their manufacturing bases closer to Asia.

As China evolves itself into one of the world largest e-commerce market and with the growing affluence of 
Chinese, the demands for air travel and delivery of commodities globally have translated into demands for cargo 
and passenger aircrafts. International players such as Boeing and Airbus are confident that the China market size 
is able to spur growth and accommodate both domestic and international aircraft manufacturers. Based on China’s 
13th Five Year Plan and governmental support, the China’s aviation industry has created commercial opportunities 
for many companies in the aviation market. In an attempt to break market domination by Airbus and Boeing, China 
is developing its own domestic manufacturing and the maintenances, repairs and overhaul capabilities of its own 
homegrown brand of aircrafts and aviation talents.

Strategically headquartered in Singapore, with subsidiaries located in China and Europe, the Group have recently 
announced a substantial acquisition exercise into Zuse Hüller-Hille, a machine tools engineering solution provider 
based in Germany. The proposed acquisition upon the approval of the Company’s shareholders in an extraordinary 
general meeting to be called and convened in due course will enable the Group to improve its product variety and 
develop new products specifically tailored towards the Asian automotive and aviation industry’s needs.

Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group believes that it will be well-positioned to capitalise on Zuse Hüller-
Hille existing capabilities in machine tools manufacturing to explore and develop new business opportunities in the 
areas of turnkey projects in Europe and Asia.

The Group will also continue to leverage on our technological know-how and knowledge of our customers’ needs 
to procure high-end machining technology from Europe for onward sale to our customers who need to ramp up and 
upgrade their production facilities. We plan to complement the transfer of technology by offering after-sales technical 
support to our customers to ensure that technologies obtained would be harnessed in the most optimal manner.

We will continue to focus on growing our key markets whilst pursuing potential business opportunities in new 
markets. In addition, we will continue to seek improvements in various strategic aspects, including broadening our 
customer base, supply channels and capacity expansion. In line with our strategy to increase our market penetration, 
we are also cautiously seeking suitable investment opportunities in Asia and Europe. We will cautiously seek to 
capture suitable market opportunities with a view to maximizing our shareholders’ returns.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

DIVIDEND

The Board is pleased to recommend a final dividend of HK2.36 cents per share for the year ended 31 December 
2017 (2016: HK2.36 cents) subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
(“AGM”). Based on the issued share capital, it is expected that the total amount of final dividend payable to our 
shareholders is HK$16,968,000 for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$16,968,000). Expected payout 
date of the proposed final dividend if approved at the AGM, is on or around 27 July 2018.

APPRECIATION

In conclusion, on behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere thanks to all our shareholders, customers, 
principals and bankers for their continued trust and support. To the team of the Group, I thank you for your hard 
work and dedication, without which we would not have been able to achieve the good results today.

The buoyant market bring forth new opportunities, and the acquisition of the Zuse Hüller-Hille Group, which will 
represent another substantial milestone for the Group, will help the Group to be better equip to meet all forth 
coming challenges. With the core foundation in place, and with the help of everyone, I am confident that 2018 will 
be another landmark year for the Group and one that I am eager to embark on.

Thank you.

Yours sincerely,
Wong Koon Lup

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

3 April 2018
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended
31 December

2017 2016
   

Profitability data (HK$’000)
Revenue 2,337,317 2,462,017
Gross profit 390,326 467,672
Profit before tax 299,053 301,758
Profit for the year 249,316 234,460

 

As at 31 December

2017 2016
   

Assets and liabilities data (HK$’000)
Cash and cash equivalents 77,431 193,790
Loans and borrowings (current) 200,996 2,400
Total assets less current liabilities 2,024,123 2,121,719
Key financial ratios
Current ratio (times) (Note 1) 2.1 3.0
Gearing ratio (%) (Note 2) 37.9 37.0
Inventory turnover (days) (Note 3) 1 1
Trade receivables turnover (days) (Note 4) 348 259
Trade payables turnover (days) (Note 5) 191 146

 

Notes:

Note 1 Current ratio is calculated based on current assets divided by current liabilities.

Note 2 Gearing ratio is calculated based on total bank loans, overdraft, finance leases, trade financing and bills payable and the 

Notes issued divided by total assets.

Note 3 Inventory turnover is calculated based on the average inventory (sum of opening and closing balances of inventory of 

respective years and then divided by two) divided by cost of goods sold of the respective years and multiplied by the 

number of days in the corresponding year.

Note 4 Trade receivables turnover is calculated based on the average trade receivables (sum of opening and closing balances of 

trade receivables of respective years and then divided by two) divided by revenue of the respective years and multiplied 

by the number of days in the corresponding year.

Note 5 Trade payables turnover is calculated based on the average closing balances of trade payables and trade financing and 

bills payable (sum of opening and closing balances of trade payables and trade financing and bills payable of respective 

years and then divided by two) divided by cost of goods sold of the respective years and multiplied by the number of days 

in the corresponding year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

Precision engineering solutions projects

We offer our customers project-based tailor-made precision engineering solutions by producing customized assembly 
production lines. The range of these precision engineering solutions include the conducting of feasibility studies, 
concept and design, sourcing of assemblies, components and parts, to the manufacturing, installation and testing 
of products and the provision of after-sales technical support.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, our activities under this segment saw continued contributions in precision 
engineering solutions in our key markets such as India, Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore and Thailand, in the precision 
engineering, automotive and oil and gas sectors.

Sales of CNC machining centres

This segment relates primarily to sales of precision engineering manufacturing equipment operable under CNC 
automation. We trade a wide range of CNC machining centres from our principals.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, our activities under this segment decreased largely attributable to the 
strategy to focus more on precision engineering solutions projects.

Sales of components and parts

To enable our Group to be a one-stop solution provider, we supplement our core business by distributing and trading 
a comprehensive range of accessory products together with components and parts. These components and parts 
are either manufactured by our Group or sourced from our international network of suppliers.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, our activities under this segment increased mainly due to the securing 
of one-off project in Indonesia.

Provision of comprehensive maintenance and after-sales technical support services

Our Group offers our customers comprehensive maintenance and after-sales technical support services.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, this segment saw a decrease as in the prior year, the depressed market 
conditions then led to many customers opting not to buy new equipment but looking for overhaul of existing 
equipment instead, hence there was more one-off servicing contracts undertaken for the year ended 31 December 
2016.

Renewable energy solutions

Revenue from the renewable energy solutions relates primarily to the manufacture and trade of solar photovoltaic 
panels and modules.

Revenue contribution from this business segment decreased for the year ended 31 December 2017 mainly due 
to the Group’s decision to reduce our focus on this business segment in view of the overall slowdown within this 
industry. This is an area under operation review by the Group. Another factor that contributed to the decrease was 
the one-year contract to provide renewable energy solutions in Thailand for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK FOR 2018

Global economic sentiment is more buoyant this year. The broad recovery in investment, manufacturing and trade 
is good news for Asia’s trade-dependent economies which have profited from the strengthening global demand.

The European Union have pledged themselves to the Paris agreement to fight against global warming and their policy 
makers are churning out regulations and hefty taxes to make gasoline and diesel vehicles undesirable to consumers, 
which will eventually drive the gasoline and diesel automotive vehicles out of the European car market as early as 
2025. Automotive manufacturers who saw the dwindling sales and inevitable situation, have set their eyes on the 
Asian markets thus encouraging them to move their manufacturing bases closer to Asia.

As China evolves itself into one of the world largest e-commerce market and with the growing affluence of 
Chinese, the demands for air travel and delivery of commodities globally have translated into demands for cargo 
and passenger aircrafts. International players such as Boeing and Airbus are confident that the China market size 
is able to spur growth and accommodate both domestic and international aircraft manufacturers. Based on China’s 
13th Five Year Plan and governmental support, the China’s aviation industry has created commercial opportunities 
for many companies in the aviation market. In an attempt to break market domination by Airbus and Boeing, China 
is developing its own domestic manufacturing and the maintenances, repairs and overhaul capabilities of its own 
homegrown brand of aircrafts and aviation talents.

Strategically headquartered in Singapore, with subsidiaries located in China and Europe, the Group have recently 
announced a substantial acquisition exercise into Zuse Hüller-Hille, a machine tools engineering solution provider 
based in Germany. The proposed acquisition upon the approval of the Company’s shareholders in an extraordinary 
general meeting to be called and convened in due course will enable the Group to improve its product, variety and 
develop new products specifically tailored towards the Asian automotive and aviation industry’s needs.

Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group believes that it will be well-positioned to capitalise on Zuse Hüller-
Hille existing capabilities in machine tools manufacturing to explore and develop new business opportunities in the 
areas of turnkey projects in Europe and Asia.

The Group will also continue to leverage on our technological know-how and knowledge of our customers’ needs 
to procure high-end machining technology from Europe for onward sale to our customers who need to ramp up and 
upgrade their production facilities. We plan to complement the transfer of technology by offering after-sales technical 
support to our customers to ensure that technologies obtained would be harnessed in the most optimal manner.

We will continue to focus on growing our key markets whilst pursuing potential business opportunities in new 
markets. In addition, we will continue to seek improvements in various strategic aspects, including broadening our 
customer base, supply channels and capacity expansion. In line with our strategy to increase our market penetration, 
we are also cautiously seeking suitable investment opportunities in Asia and Europe. We will cautiously seek to 
capture suitable market opportunities with a view to maximizing our shareholders’ returns.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2017, revenue of the Group reached approximately HK$2,337.3 million, representing 
a decrease of approximately HK$124.7 million or 5.1% from approximately HK$2,462.0 million for the preceding 
financial year. Set out below is a breakdown of our revenue by our five business segments:

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016
Percentage 

of total 
revenue

Percentage 
of total 
revenue

Increase/
(Decrease)

HK$’000 % HK$’000 % %
      

Precision engineering solutions projects 2,254,927 96.5 2,261,166 91.8 (0.3)
Sales of CNC machining centres 8,016 0.3 22,058 0.9 (63.7)
Sales of components and parts 39,023 1.7 9,816 0.4 297.5
After-sales technical support services 32,897 1.4 116,307 4.7 (71.7)
Renewable energy solutions 2,454 0.1 52,670 2.2 (95.3)

     

Total 2,337,317 100.0 2,462,017 100.0 (5.1)
     

Revenue from precision engineering solutions projects relates primarily to the provision of precision engineering 
solutions specific to machine tools and machinery and equipment encompassing their conceptualization and design 
to production line set-up and commissioning of production lines. For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, 
approximately 96.5% and 91.8% of our total revenue was derived from precision engineering solutions projects 
respectively. Revenue from this business segment decreased slightly by approximately 0.3% from approximately 
HK$2,261.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, to approximately HK$2,254.9 million for the year ended 
31 December 2017. Despite a buoyant market for machine tools during 2017, the demand outran the available 
market supply. The shortfall of supply resulted in longer delivery lead time and hence delayed completion of our 
projects, which consequently caused a slight delay in our recognition of revenue.

Revenue from sales of CNC machining centres primarily relates to sales of precision engineering manufacturing 
equipment operable under CNC automation. For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, approximately 
0.3% and 0.9% of our total revenue was derived from sales of CNC machining centres respectively. Revenue from 
sales of CNC machining centres decreased by 63.7% from approximately HK$22.1 million for the year ended 31 
December 2016, to approximately HK$8.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. As explained above, due 
to a shortage in equipment supply, the Group had focused its efforts on the precision engineering solutions projects 
segment, hence resulting in the decrease in sales in this segment during 2017.

Revenue from sales of components and parts relates primarily to sales of self-manufactured and trading of 
components and parts. Revenue from this business segment contributed approximately 1.7 % and 0.4% to our 
total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively. Revenue from the sales of components 
and parts increased by 297.5% from approximately HK$9.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, to 
approximately HK$39.0 million for the current year. The increase was largely due to the securing of a one-off project 
in Indonesia with a value of approximately HK$33.3 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue from after-sales technical support services consists primarily of the provision of technical repairs and 
maintenance services in relation to our Group’s other business segments. Revenue contribution from this business 
segment was about 1.4% for the year ended 31 December 2017 compared to 4.7% in the preceding year. Revenue 
from after-sales technical support services decreased by 71.7% from approximately HK$116.3 million in the previous 
year, to approximately HK$32.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. This decrease in revenue from 
after-sales technical support was largely due to the securing of a one-off contract to provide after-sales technical 
support to some existing machines and equipment of our customers in Thailand, Singapore and Indonesia, during 
the year ended 31 December 2016.

Revenue from the renewable energy solutions relates primarily to the manufacturing and trading of solar photovoltaic 
panels and modules. Revenue contribution from this business segment decreased from 2.2% for the year ended 
31 December 2016 to 0.1% for the current year. Revenue from renewable energy solutions decreased by 95.3% 
from approximately HK$52.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, to approximately HK$2.5 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2017. In 2017, the Group decided to reduce our focus on this business segment due 
to an overall slowdown within this industry. Hence, this is an area under continued operation review by the Group.

Cost of sales

The costs of sales of our Group accounted for approximately 83.3% and 81.0% of our revenue for the years ended 
31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively. Our cost of sales comprise primarily: (i) cost of goods sold; (ii) direct 
labour costs; and (iii) direct depreciation expenses, which are costs incurred directly in relation to our revenue. Factors 
affecting our cost of sales include: (a) prices and availability of raw materials such as cast iron; and (b) salaries and 
related expenses of our engineers and skilled labour.

The following table sets forth the major components of our cost of sales:

Year ended 31 December

2017 2016
Percentage 

of total cost 
of sales

Percentage 
of total cost 

of sales
Increase/

(Decrease)
HK$’000 % HK$’000 % %

      

Cost of goods sold 1,942,574 99.8 1,985,343 99.5 (2.2)
Direct labour costs 3,399 0.1 5,742 0.3 (40.8)
Direct depreciation expenses 1,018 0.1 3,260 0.2 (68.8)

     

Total 1,946,991 100.0 1,994,345 100.0 (2.4)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For both the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, cost of goods sold as a percentage of our Group’s total 
cost of sales remained relatively constant at 99.8% and 99.5% respectively. Cost of goods sold decreased slightly by 
2.2% from approximately HK$1,985.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HK$1,942.6 
million for the year ended 31 December 2017. Our Group’s cost of goods sold comprise primarily material costs, 
sub-contractor costs, inbound freight and handling costs. Material costs comprise primarily CNC machining centres, 
industrial equipment, components and parts, cast iron, casting, sheet metals, electric box, ball screw, spindle, 
controller and tool changers from suppliers located worldwide including Europe, Japan, the PRC, Singapore, 
Taiwan and the United States of America (the “US”). As a result of the shortage of supply which led to the reduced 
in revenue from the precision engineering solutions projects and the sales of CNC machining centres segment, 
correspondingly our cost of goods sold for the current year has also decreased by 2.2%.

Direct labour costs comprise salaries and related costs for engineers as well as production and assembly staff. For 
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, direct labour costs as a percentage of our Group’s total cost of 
sales was approximately 0.1% and 0.3% respectively. Direct labour costs decreased by 40.8% from approximately 
HK$5.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HK$3.4 million for the current year. The 
decrease in absolute amount was primarily due to reduction in labour for the manufacturing and assembling of 
solar photovoltaic modules and panels.

Direct depreciation expenses for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 remained relatively constant at 0.1% 
and 0.2% respectively. Direct depreciation expenses decreased by 68.8% from approximately HK$3.3 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HK$1.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. Direct 
depreciation expenses comprise depreciation charges on production related equipment.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 was approximately HK$390.3 million, representing a decrease 
of 16.5% from the year ended 31 December 2016. This is largely attributable to the decreased contributions from 
the after-sales technical support services which generated higher gross profit margin.

As a result of the decrease in revenue from after-sales technical support services, our gross profit margin for the 
year ended 31 December 2017 decreased to approximately 16.7%, from approximately 19.0% for the year ended 
31 December 2016.

Other income and gains

The other income and gains of our Group amounted to approximately HK$47.3 million and HK$10.4 million for the 
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively. The increase of approximately 354.8% was largely due to 
the gain on a partial redemption of Notes of approximately HK$8.5 million and the net foreign exchange gain of 
approximately HK$27.4 million in the year ended 31 December 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses refer to the expenses incurred for the promotion and sale of products. This 
comprises primarily salaries and related costs for sales and marketing staff, travelling and transportation costs, 
outbound freight and handling costs, commissions and marketing expenses and maintenance costs of equipment. 
Selling and distribution expenses, as a percentage of our total revenue, remained relatively constant, being 0.5% 
and 0.6% of our total revenue for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively.

Selling and distribution expenses in absolute terms, decreased from approximately HK$13.7 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HK$12.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The decrease 
in absolute amount was primarily due to reduction in labour for the renewable energy solutions segment during 
the year ended 31 December 2017.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses comprise primarily salaries and related costs for key management, finance and administration 
staff, rental expenses, depreciation, legal and professional fees, and audit fees.

The administrative expenses of the Group decreased slightly from approximately HK$60.0 million for year ended 
31 December 2016 to approximately HK$54.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. This decrease of 
approximately 9.4% was primarily attributable to the decrease in share option expenses and legal and professional 
fees. The share option expenses decreased from approximately HK$6.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, 
to approximately HK$0.8 million for the current year. The decrease in legal and professional fees, from approximately 
HK$13.4 million in the previous year, to approximately HK$10.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 was 
primarily due to pre-acquisition due diligence work undertaken in respect of several potential acquisition and merger 
targets during the year ended 31 December 2016.

Finance costs

Our Group’s finance costs comprise interest on bank loans, interest on the Notes issued and interest on finance 
leases. Our finance costs increased by 15.7%, or approximately HK$9.7 million, from approximately HK$61.7 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HK$71.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

The increase was largely attributable to the increase in interest expenses and drawdown handling fee from the 
bank loan of approximately HK$9.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. This was partly offset by the 
interest saving from the Notes issued of approximately HK$32.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to 
approximately HK$28.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Other operating expenses

Our Group’s other operating expenses consist of realised and unrealised foreign exchange losses as well as allowance 
for goodwill, plant and equipment impairment. Our group had gains on foreign exchange for the year ended 31 
December 2017, which were recorded under other income and gains as compared to the net exchange losses of 
approximately HK$6.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The Group also recorded allowances for 
impairment of goodwill and impairment of plant and equipment of approximately HK$5.2 million and HK$29.6 
million, respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2016. Whilst there was no such allowances made for the 
current year, there was a write-back of impairment on plant and equipment of approximately HK$940,000, which 
were recorded under other income for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense amounted to approximately HK$49.7 million and HK$67.3 million for the years ended 
31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively. Additional provision for taxation was made for both the financial years 
ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, on a more prudent basis for financial reporting purposes. The actual income 
tax payable on the assessable or taxable profits arising from the subsidiaries is generally determined and agreed 
with the relevant tax authorities, which might be different from the income tax provision made in these financial 
statements. In line with our reduction of gross profits, our taxable income, excluding capital gains and unrealised 
exchange gains is lower for the year ended 31 December 2017. Accordingly our effective tax rate has dropped from 
22.3% for the year ended 31 December 2016 to 16.6% for the current year.

Profit for the year and net profit margin

The Group recorded a profit of approximately HK$249.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, which 
represents an increase of approximately HK$14.8 million or 6.3% from approximately HK$234.5 million for the 
preceding year. As mentioned above, the increase of profit for the year approximately was largely due to gain on 
repurchased Notes for the year ended 31 December 2017 of profit for the year approximately HK$8.5 million and 
net foreign exchange gain of approximately HK$27.4 million. The net profit margin for the year ended 31 December 
2017 improved by 1.2% to 10.7%, from approximately 9.5% for the year ended 31 December 2016.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash position

Our cash and bank balances amounted to approximately HK$77.4 million and HK$193.8 million as at 31 December 
2017 and 2016 respectively. The functional currencies of the Group include the US dollar, Chinese Renminbi and 
Singapore dollar. As at 31 December 2017, 96.7% of the Group’s cash, bank deposits and pledged fixed deposits 
were denominated in the respective functional currencies (31 December 2016: 93.7%) and the remaining 3.3% 
(31 December 2016: 6.3%) in other currencies (mainly Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Japanese yen and the US dollar).

The Group’s primary sources of funds during 2017 included cash generated from operating activities and financing 
activities. Our Group had net cash inflow from operating activities of approximately HK$53.2 million, for the year 
ended 31 December 2017 largely due to the Group’s continuous effort to focus on the growth of our revenue, 
mainly in the precision engineering solutions projects segment. We also had net cash outflow of approximately 
HK$5.4 million from financing activities largely arising from the proceeds from bank loans which was partly offset 
by a partial redemption of the Notes issued, payment of interest expenses and finance charges during the year 
ended 31 December 2017.

Our bank facilities as at 31 December 2017 was approximately HK$1,047.7 million (2016: HK$1,021.6 million), of 
which approximately HK$947.5 million of trade facilities was utilised (2016: HK$774.8 million). In addition, we had 
loans and bank overdrafts drawn down of approximately HK$201.0 million as at 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$2.4 
million), with interest rates ranging from 3.06% to 3.32% per annum (2016: 4.3% per annum).
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Capital Management

The capital structure of the Group consists of, equity attributable to owners of the Company (comprising issued 
share capital and reserves), debts (including loans and borrowings, Notes issued, finance lease obligations as well 
as trade financing and bills payable) less cash and cash equivalents.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the Directors consider the costs of capital 
and the optimal use of debt and equity so as to maximise the return to stakeholders. The Group seeks to balance 
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new debt 
or the redemption of existing debt.

Capital Expenditure

For the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group acquired plant and equipment at a cost of 
approximately HK$0.4 million and HK$4.9 million respectively.

Trade receivables

Our total trade receivables balance amounted to approximately HK$2,386.8 million and HK$2,075.3 million as 
at 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively. It comprises trade receivables of approximately HK$1,708.5 million 
and accrued revenue of approximately HK$678.3 million as at 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$1,137.1 million and 
HK$938.2 million respectively).

Our trade receivables increased from approximately HK$1,137.1 million as at 31 December 2016 to HK$1,708.5 
million as at 31 December 2017, mainly due to the revenue from the precision engineering solutions projects segment 
and the after-sales technical support services.

Accrued revenue

The accrued revenue of our Group as at 31 December 2017 amounted to approximately HK$678.3 million (31 
December 2016: HK$938.2 million). All services under accrued revenue have been rendered when certain milestones 
were achieved such as acceptance by customers. However, due to the agreed payment terms, the relevant payment 
requests were billed to our customers subsequent to the year end. The increase in accrued revenue is mainly 
attributable to the increase in revenue in the precision engineering solutions projects segment and the after-sales 
technical support services during the year.

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had net current assets of approximately HK$2,005.2 million compared to 
HK$2,098.6 million as at 31 December 2016. The increase was mainly due to the increase in trade receivables and 
other receivables, which was partly offset by an increase in trade financing and bills payable. This was a result of 
the increase in business activities, particularly in the precision engineering solutions projects segment where revenue 
for the year have increased and also certain advance payments were made to suppliers.
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Current liabilities

Our current liabilities comprised trade payables, trade finance and bills payables, other payables, notes issued, loans 
and borrowings, tax liabilities and finance leases payable. Our total current liabilities amounted to approximately 
HK$1,860.1 million and HK$1,072.1 million as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 respectively, and accounted for 
approximately 99.9% of our total liabilities as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 72.8%). The increase 
in current liabilities is largely attributable to the increase in trade financing and bills payable and trade payables.

Current ratio

The Group’s current ratio decreased to 2.1 times as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 3.0 times), this was 
largely attributable to decrease in cash and cash equivalents.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is measured by the total bank loans, overdraft, the Notes issued, finance leases, and trade financing 
and bills payables divided by the total assets of the Group. As at 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio was 37.9% 
whereas the gearing ratio as at 31 December 2016 was 37.0%.

Risk of exchange rate fluctuation

The Group transacts business in various foreign currencies, including the US dollar, Euro, Singapore dollar, Chinese 
Renminbi, British pound and Japanese yen, and therefore is exposed to foreign exchange risks.

The Group manages its foreign exchange exposure as far as possible by matching the currency that it transacts with 
its customers to the currency that it purchased in to create a natural hedge.

The Group has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to currency translation 
risks. No financial hedge has been taken up to mitigate this exposure as it does not impact cash flows.

For further information on the foreign currency sensitivity analysis, please see Note 33 to the financial statements.

Tax Relief

The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the shareholders by reason of their holdings of 
the shares. If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation implications of purchasing holding, 
disposing of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in relation to the shares, they are advised to consult their 
professional advisers.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total number of 121 full-time employees, including 69 full-time employees 
in our joint ventures (2016: 121 and 70 respectively). The Group determined the remuneration packages of all 
employees based on factors including individual qualifications, contributions to the Group, performance and years 
of experience of the respective staff.

The Group provides on-going training to our staff in order to enhance their technical skills and product knowledge, 
and to provide them with updates with regards to industry quality standards and work safety standards. In addition, 
our engineers receive on-going technical training and exchanges with KIWA Machinery Co., Ltd. in both Japan and 
the PRC.
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The Group maintains good relationships with our employees and has not experienced any significant problems with 
our employees nor have there been any disruptions to the Group’s business operations as a result of strikes or other 
labour disputes.

As required by the PRC regulations, the Group participates in the social insurance schemes operated by the relevant 
local government authorities.

Treasury policies

Our Group prudently managed its treasury functions and maintained a healthy liquidity position throughout the 
financial year ended 31 December 2017. The Board closely monitors our liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity 
structure of our assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

Charge on assets

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had pledged certain assets with a net book value of approximately HK$1.0 
million under hire purchase financing (2016: HK$3.0 million).
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The Board and the management of the Company are committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance 
practices and procedures. The Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework that 
is essential for effective management, a healthy corporate culture, sustainable growth and the enhancing of 
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions on the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out 
in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed in the section headed “Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer” in this report, the Directors consider that during the year ended 31 December 2017 (the 
“Review Period”), the Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in the CG Code.

DIRECTORS SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct of the Group regarding Directors’ securities 
transactions for the Review Period. Specific written acknowledgements have been obtained from each Director to 
confirm compliance with the Model Code during the Review Period. There were no incidents of non-compliance 
during that period. The Board confirmed that having made specific enquiries with the Directors, all the Directors 
confirmed that they had complied with the required standard of dealings for the Review Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board collectively provides leadership, guidance and strategic decisions for the Group’s activities and oversees 
its financial performance. The Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company and 
making decisions in the best interests of the Company. The Board has delegated its powers to the management 
with regards to the Group’s daily management and operations.

BOARD COMPOSITION

During the Review Period and subsequently up to the date of this annual report, the Board comprised three 
executive Directors (“Executive Directors”), one non-executive Director (“Non-executive Director”) and three 
independent non-executive Directors (“Independent Non-executive Directors”). The Board has at least one-third 
of its membership comprising Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing 
Rules. The following were the members of the Board for the Review Period and up to this annual report:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Koon Lup (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Mun Sum (Chief Operating Officer)
Mr. Lee Tiang Soon

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (alias Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey)
Mr. Liu Ji (appointed on 12 July 2017)
Mr. Chan Hon Chung, Johnny (resigned on 12 July 2017)
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The biographical details and responsibilities of the Directors as well as the senior management are set out in the 
section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 27 to 32 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” to this annual report, the 
Directors have no other financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one another.

The Directors believe that the composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills and experience 
appropriate for the requirements of the business development of the Group and for effective leadership, as all the 
Executive Directors possess extensive experience in management and the provision of precision engineering solutions 
projects, whilst the Independent Non-executive Directors possess professional knowledge and broad experience in 
the areas of finance, law and management. The Directors are of the opinion that the present structure of the Board 
can ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board and provide a system of checks and balances to safeguard 
the interests of the shareholders and the Company.

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional development courses and seminars to develop 
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company updates the Directors on the latest developments regarding 
the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their 
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of training received by the Directors for the Review 
Period is as follows:

Directors

Type of 
continuing professional 

development programmes
  

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Koon Lup 1, 2
Mr. Wong Mun Sum 1, 2
Mr. Lee Tiang Soon 1, 2

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng 2

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck 1, 2
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey) 1
Mr. Liu Ji 1, 2

Notes:

1. Reading materials to update on the latest developments of the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements

2. Attending briefing sessions and/or seminars

Due to the collective and individual commitments of the Directors during the Review Period, not all Directors were able to 
attend briefing sessions and/or seminars. However, all the Directors have read materials updating themselves on the latest 
developments of the Listing Rules and the relevant statutory requirements, and during the Review Period, the Directors 
(and management) have kept in close communication with their professional advisors and Company Secretary on an as 
needed basis.
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FUNCTIONS AND DUTIES OF THE BOARD

The main functions and duties conferred on and performed by the Board include:

(i) overall management of the business and strategic development;
(ii) deciding business plans and investment plans;
(iii) convening general meetings and reporting to the shareholders of the Company;
(iv) exercising other powers, functions and duties conferred by shareholders in general meetings; and
(v) determining the policies for corporate governance practices.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision D.3 of 
the CG Code.

The management is responsible for the daily management and operation of the Company.

BOARD MEETINGS

For the Review Period, the Board considers that all meetings have been legally and properly convened. With the 
assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairman of the Board takes the lead to ensure that Board meetings and 
Board committee meetings are convened in accordance with the requirements set out in the articles of association 
of the Company (“Articles of Association”), the terms of reference of the respective Board committees and the 
Listing Rules.

During the Review Period, the Board has held 4 Board meetings. The record of attendance of individual Directors 
at the Board meetings is set out below.

Prior notice of at least 14 days convening the Board meetings were dispatched to the Directors setting out the 
matters to be discussed. At the meetings, the Directors were provided with the relevant documents to be discussed 
and approved. The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes for the Board meetings.

The minutes of Board meetings record in sufficient details the matters considered by the Board, including all concerns 
raised by the Directors and dissenting views expressed. The minutes of all Board meetings and Board committee 
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for inspection by any Director, auditor or any relevant 
eligible parties who can have access to such minutes.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD

The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board committee meetings of the Company held during 
the Review Period is set out in the table below:

Board
Audit 

Committee
Remuneration 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Annual 
General 
Meeting

      

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Koon Lup 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
Mr. Wong Mun Sum 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
Mr. Lee Tiang Soon 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 0/1

Independent Non-executive 
 Directors
Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck 4/4 2/2 N/A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey 
 (Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey) 4/4 2/2 1/1 1/1 0/1
Mr. Chan Han Chung, Johnny
 (resigned on 12 July 2017) 1/1 1/1 1/1 N/A 0/1
Mr. Liu Ji (appointed 
 on 12 July 2017) 2/2 1/1 N/A N/A N/A

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three Independent Non-executive 
Directors. Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr, Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey 
(Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey) and Mr. Chan Hon Chung, Johnny (“Mr. Chan”) of the Company have entered into letters of 
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing on 13 April 2012 which were subsequently 
renewed on 1 July 2015. With effect from 12 July 2017, Mr. Chan has resigned as an Independent Non-executive 
Director of the Company and Mr. Liu Ji has been appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the 
Company. Mr. Liu Ji has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years on the 
same day. All of them are also subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM in accordance with 
the Articles of Association. The Board considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors have appropriate and 
sufficient industry or finance experience and qualifications to carry out their duties so as to protect the interests of 
the shareholders.

Prior to their respective appointments, each of the Independent Non-executive Directors submitted a written 
statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their independence and has undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange 
as soon as practicable if there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect their independence. 
The Company has also received a written confirmation from each Independent Non-executive Director in respect of 
their independence. The Board considers that all Independent Non-executive Directors are being considered to be 
independent by reference to the factors stated in the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets 
of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of 
them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, 
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices, except 
such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty.

The Company has subscribed to an insurance policy since April 2012 with an aim to indemnify its Directors and 
senior executives from any losses, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses arising from, including but not limited 
to, any proceedings brought against them during the performance of their duties pursuant to their respective service 
agreements entered into with the Company.

PROCEDURE FOR SEEKING PROFESSIONAL ADVICE BY DIRECTORS

The Company has agreed to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to assist them to discharge 
their duties. The Company will develop a written procedure to enable Directors, upon reasonable request, to seek 
and be provided with independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman (“Chairman”) and chief executive officer 
(“Chief Executive Officer”) should be separate and not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong Koon Lup 
has been performing both the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Wong Koon Lup is 
the founder of the Group and has over 26 years of experience in the precision engineering industry. The Directors 
consider that vesting two roles in the same person allows for more effective and efficient planning of the Group’s 
long-term business strategies and provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership in the development and 
execution of the Group’s business strategies and is beneficial to the Group. The Directors will continue to review 
the effectiveness of the current structure and assess whether change in the separation of roles of Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer is necessary.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Non-Executive Director and the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract or letter of 
appointment with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the date of their respective appointments 
and was subsequently renewed. These may only be terminated in accordance with the provisions of their respective 
service contract by either party giving to the other not less than three months’ prior notice in writing.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board committees (the “Board Committees”), namely the Audit Committee, 
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee to assist the Board in discharging its duties and 
responsibilities. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are able 
to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection with their duties at the Company’s expense.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

(a) The Audit Committee of the Company was established on 14 March 2012 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the 
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls system.

(b) The Audit Committee comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck, 
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (alias Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey) and Mr. Liu Ji. The chairman of the Audit Committee is 
Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck.

(c) During the Review Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings. The record of attendance of individual 
Directors at the Audit Committee meetings is set out on page 20 of this annual report.

(d) The following is a summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the Review Period:

i. review of the external auditor’s independence and quotation of audit fees with a recommendation to 
the Board for approval;

ii. review of the internal auditor’s independence and quotation for charges on internal control with a 
recommendation to the Board for approval;

iii. review of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls and risk management of the Group;

iv. review of the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting 
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget; and

v. review of the consolidated financial statements including the Group’s adopted accounting principles 
and practices, internal control and risk management systems and annual and interim results and other 
financial reporting matters (in conjunction with the external auditor for the annual results).

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the 
Board is available on the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.

Auditor’s Remuneration

Ernst & Young, our external auditor, provided the Group with their annual audit services during the Review Period.

For the Review Period, the remuneration paid or payable to Ernst & Young in respect of audit services provided is 
set out below:

Services rendered Remuneration paid/payable
HK$’million

  

Annual audit services 2.37
Non-audit fees 0.64

 

Total 3.01
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There has been no major disagreement between the external auditor and the management of the Company during 
the Review Period.

The Audit Committee is responsible to make recommendations to the Board as to the appointment, reappointment 
and removal of the external auditor. If adopted by the Board, these recommendations are subject to approval at 
the AGMs of the Company.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

(a) The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established on 14 March 2012 with written terms of 
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The main function of the Remuneration Committee is to assist 
the Board in establishing a formal and transparent procedure for setting policy on the remuneration packages 
for all Directors and senior management.

(b) The Remuneration Committee comprises two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Liu Ji and 
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey); and Executive Director, Mr. Wong Koon Lup. The chairman 
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. Liu Ji.

(c) During the Review Period, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting. The record of attendance of 
individual Directors at the Remuneration Committee meeting is set out on page 20 of this annual report.

(d) For the Review Period, the Remuneration Committee made recommendations to the Board on the 
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior management. No Director or any of his associates 
were involved in determining his own remuneration. In determining such remuneration packages, the 
Remuneration Committee made reference to companies of comparable business and scale, and the nature 
and volume of work in order to compensate the Directors reasonably for their time and effort spent. During 
the Review Period, the Remuneration Committee conducted a review of the remuneration policy and structure 
of Directors and senior management which took into account the prevailing market conditions and the 
responsibilities of individual members.

The remuneration of the members of the senior management by band for the Review Period is set out below:

In the band of Number of individuals
  

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 6

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages commensurate with industry practice and provides various 
fringe benefits to all employees of the Group including bonus and share option schemes. The Group mainly 
determines staff remuneration on the basis of the competence, qualifications, experience and performance of 
individual employees and the salary trends in Singapore and the PRC. The staff remuneration will be reviewed 
regularly. The Group has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the 
Board is available on the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

(a) The Nomination Committee of the Company was established on 14 March 2012 with written terms of 
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make 
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and senior management.

(b) The Nomination Committee has three members, comprising two Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, 
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (alias Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey) and Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck; and Executive Director, Mr. 
Wong Koon Lup. The chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (alias Wang Ci’An, 
Jeffrey).

(c) During the Review Period, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. The record of attendance of 
individual Directors at the Nomination Committee meeting is set out on page 20 of this annual report.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the 
Board is available on the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Group’s Company Secretary is Mr. Chan Kam Fuk who was appointed on 1 June 2012. The Company Secretary 
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are followed and Board activities are efficiently and 
effectively conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to proper Board processes and the timely 
preparation and dissemination to Directors of comprehensive meeting agendas and papers. Minutes of all Board 
and Board Committees meetings are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to record in sufficient 
details the matters considered and decisions reached by the Board or Committees, including any concerns raised or 
dissenting views voiced by any Director. All draft and final minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees 
are sent to Directors and Committee members respectively for comments and records and are available for inspection 
by any Director upon request.

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject to the Board approval in accordance with the 
Articles of Association. Whilst the Company Secretary reports to the Chairman, all members of the Board have access 
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Mr. Chan Kam Fuk has day-to-day knowledge of the affairs 
of the Group. Mr. Chan Kam Fuk was nominated by RHT Corporate Advisory (HK) Limited to act as the Company 
Secretary and RHT Corporate Advisory (HK) Limited has been providing certain corporate secretarial services to the 
Company pursuant to an engagement letter entered with the Company. Mr. Chan has been contacting with the 
Board and the chief financial officer of our Company directly in respect of company secretarial matters. In response to 
specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary confirmed that he has complied with all the required qualifications, 
experience and professional training requirements of the Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial statements of the Group in accordance 
with the statutory requirements and accounting standards and other financial disclosure requirements under the 
Listing Rules. The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the financial statements of the 
Group are published in a timely manner as required by the Listing Rules.

The external auditor’s statement about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report 
on pages 48 to 52 of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The risk management and the internal control system has been designed to provide reasonable (but not absolute) 
assurance in safeguarding the assets of the Group, maintaining proper accounting records, risk management, 
execution with appropriate authority and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in 
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Company establishes and maintains appropriate 
and effective risk management and internal control systems. The Board should oversee management in the design, 
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. During the Review Period, 
the management of the Group has provided a confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of these system.

The Board has overseen the Company’s risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis, ensure 
that a review of the effectiveness of the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ risk management and internal control systems 
has been conducted at least annually and report to shareholders that it has done so in its Corporate Governance 
Report.

During the Review Period, the Company has outsourced its internal audit function to an external professional firm, 
PKF-CAP LLP., who have conducted the review, including but not limited to all material controls, including financial, 
operational and compliance controls; the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training 
programmes and budget of the issuer’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions; the changes 
in the nature and extent of significant risks; the extent and frequency of communication of the monitoring results 
to the Board; significant control failings or weakness that have been identified during the Review Period; and the 
effectiveness of the Company’s process for financial reporting and Listing Rule compliance, in order to satisfy all 
the necessary requirements of the CG Code.

The process used to identify, assess and management of principal risk

In order to comply with the risk management and internal control code provisions during the Review Period, the 
Board applied the following risk management methodologies:

Risk identification – Identify the current risks facing by the Group.

Risk analysis – conduct analysis on the risks including the impact extent and possibility of the 
occurrence.

Risk response – choose a proper risk response method and develop a mitigation strategy.

Control measures – propose internal control measures, policy and process.

Having regard to the work performed by the internal and external auditors, the Board considers that the Group’s 
internal control and risk management system is reasonably adequate and that the Company has complied with the 
code provisions on internal control and risk management of the CG Code.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has engaged professional public relations consultants to organize various investor relations programs 
aiming at increasing the transparency of the Company, enhancing communications with shareholders and investors, 
increasing their understanding of and confidence in the Group’s businesses.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication between the Board and the shareholders. 
The Chairman of the Board as well as the Chairman of the Audit Committee and other members of the respective 
committees are available to answer questions at the general meeting of the shareholders. The Company recognizes 
the importance of maintaining on-going communications with the shareholders and encourage them to attend 
shareholders’ meetings to stay informed of the Group’s businesses and convey any concerns that they may have to 
the Directors and senior management.

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, any shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the paid 
up share capital of the Company carrying voting rights at general meetings of the Company has a right to call 
for an extraordinary general meeting by sending to the Board or the Company Secretary at the principal place of 
business a written request for such general meetings duly signed by the shareholders concerned together for the 
transaction of any business specified in such requisition and such meetings shall be held within two months of the 
deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meetings, 
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the 
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders can feel free to put forward proposals relating to the operations, strategy and/or management of the 
Group for discussion at general meetings. Such proposals shall be submitted to the Board or the Company Secretary 
by written request. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders who proposed to submit proposals should 
convene extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the procedures as set out in article 64 of the Articles 
of Association.

The Group values feedback from shareholders with regards to its efforts to promote transparency and foster investor 
relationships. Enquiries to the Board or the Company including comments and suggestions are welcomed and can 
be addressed to the Company’s address: 83 Clemenceau Avenue #11-05, UE Square, Singapore 239920 or to the 
Company Secretary at cwcomsec@gmail.com.

The Company maintains a website at www.cwgroup-int.com where information and updates on the Company’s 
financial information, corporate governance practices and other useful information are posted and available for 
access by public investors.

During the Review Period, there were no changes to the memorandum and articles of association of the Company.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Koon Lup, aged 55, is the founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He was appointed 
as an Executive Director on 11 June 2010. Mr. Wong has over 26 years of experience in the engineering industry. 
Mr. Wong is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning and direction of our Group. Mr. Wong has 
spearheaded the expansion and growth of the business, and oversees the Group’s operations and strategic planning. 
Mr. Wong charts the overall corporate direction and the development of new services and markets for the Group. 
Mr. Wong has been able to secure partnerships and strategic alliances with well-established players such as KIWA 
Machinery Co., Ltd. and Deckel Maho Pfronten GmbH, and assisted our Group to become a supplier of parts and 
components to Hewlett-Packard Singapore (Pte.) Ltd.

Prior to establishing the Group in 1996, Mr. Wong participated in a partnership, Eng Lian Huat Engineering & Trading, 
which was engaged in mechanical engineering works and the wholesale of industrial machinery and equipment. Mr. 
Wong divested his interests in Eng Lian Huat Engineering & Trading in 1999. Mr. Wong was awarded the National 
Trade Certificate in Metal Machining and the National Trade Certificate in Tool and Die Making (injection mould) by 
the Vocational and Industrial Training Board of Singapore in 1981 and 1982 respectively.

Save as disclosed, Mr. Wong does not hold any other positions in the Company or in any other subsidiaries of the 
Group and did not hold any other directorships in listed public companies in the last three years.

As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Wong was interested, or deemed to be interested in 200,160,425 shares within 
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO”) 
including 28,134,769 shares held by him, his deemed interests in 161,300,000 shares held by WMS Holding Pte. 
Ltd and 10,725,656 unexercised share options he held pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company. Save 
as disclosed herein, Mr. Wong was not interested nor deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying shares 
of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Loop Lup is the brother of Mr. Wong Mun Sum, an Executive Director. Mr. Wong does not have any 
relationships with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company, saved 
as disclosed herein and in the section of “Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions 
in Shares and Underlying Shares” of the Report of the Directors.

Mr. Wong Mun Sum, aged 58, is the Executive Director and the Chief Operating Officer of the Company. Mr. Wong 
has also been the chief operating officer of the Group since April 2013. Prior to taking the position of chief operating 
officer of the Group, Mr. Wong was the director of operations and marketing for the Group’s business in the PRC.

Mr. Wong joined the Group in 2004 and he has been appointed as our executive Director since 11 June 2010. 
Prior to his appointment assuming the duties of chief operating officer in April 2013, Mr. Wong was responsible 
for the day-to-day operations of the Group’s business in the PRC and also assisted our chief executive officer in the 
marketing, strategic planning and business development of the Group in Southern PRC.

Mr. Wong obtained a Technician Diploma in Production Engineering from Singapore Polytechnic in 1979 and a 
Graduate Diploma in Marketing Management from Singapore Institute of Management in 1992.

Save as disclosed, Mr. Wong does not hold any other positions in the Company or in any other subsidiaries of the 
Group and did not hold any directorship in any other listed public companies or any major appointments in the 
last three years.
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As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Wong was interested, or deemed to be interested in, 37,928,340 Shares within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO, which included 8,218,894 unexercised share options he held with a right to subscribe 
for a total of 8,218,894 Shares and 4,109,446 share options already exercised by him under the Company’s share 
option scheme. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Wong was not interested nor deemed to be interested in any shares 
or underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wong Loop Lup is the brother of Mr. Wong Mun Sum, an Executive Director. Mr. Wong does not have any 
relationships with any Directors, senior management, substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company, saved 
as disclosed herein and in the section of “Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions 
in Shares and Underlying Shares” of the Report of the Directors.

Mr. Lee Tiang Soon, aged 47, is the Executive Director and is responsible for the overall finance and business 
development of our Group. He joined the Group in April 2008 as the chief financial officer and he was appointed 
as an executive Director on 3 April 2013. Mr. Lee is assigned with the tasks of corporate development, business 
strategy and overall finance function of the Group which include developing the Group’s strategy, sourcing and 
managing new business opportunities, profiling and evaluating potential acquisition targets in terms of fit with the 
Group’s strategy and value creation potential. Save as disclosed, Mr. Lee does not hold any other positions in the 
Company or in any other subsidiaries of the Group.

In January 2016, Mr. Lee was appointed as the chief financial officer of Zheng Li Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 
8283), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange and is responsible for its corporate finance function and 
matters relating to accounting, financial administration and its compliance and reporting obligations.

Mr. Lee graduated from Murdoch University, Australia in 1996 with a Bachelor of Commerce. Mr. Lee is a Certified 
Practising Accountant of CPA Australia since 2006. Mr. Lee has also been a member of the Institute of Singapore 
Chartered Accountants since 2013 which he has been a non-practicing member since 2007. Prior to joining the 
Group, Mr. Lee worked in Ernst & Young LLP from 1996 to 2003 where he left as a manager. During this period, 
he controlled the audits allocated to him and the audit teams working on his engagements and his responsibilities 
included covering audits of clients in various industries. From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Lee served as a senior manager at 
Alvarez & Marsal (SE Asia) Pte. Ltd. (formerly known as RSM Nelson Wheeler Tan Pte. Ltd) in the areas of insolvency 
and advisory services, and he served as an associate director at Tay Swee Sze & Associates from 2006 to April 2008.

Save as disclosed, Mr. Lee did not hold any other directorships in listed public companies in the last three years. Mr. 
Lee does not have any relationship with any director, member of senior management or substantial or controlling 
shareholder of the Company and does not hold any other position in the Company or in any other subsidiary of 
the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Lee was interested in 6,164,170 unexercised share options be held with a right to 
subscribe for 6,164,170 shares pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Lee 
was not interested nor deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying shares of the Company within the 
meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng, aged 42, was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 3 February 2016. With reference 
to the announcements of CW Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) dated 14 August 2015, 21 September 
2015 and 17 November 2015 (the “Announcements”) in relation to the subscription of 93,781,682 Subscription 
Shares under General Mandate. Unless the context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used herein shall have the 
same meanings as those defined in the Announcements. According to the terms and conditions of the Subscription 
Agreement, the Subscriber shall have the right from time to time to nominate a nominee to be appointed as a 
non-executive Director upon completion of the Subscription and for such time as the Subscriber directly or indirectly 
holds at least 10% of the total number of issued Shares. Following the completion of the Subscription on 17 
November 2015, Mr. Zhang, who is nominated by the Subscriber and whose nomination was duly considered and 
approved by our Nomination Committee and the Board.

Mr. Zhang graduated with a Master of Economics from the Central University of Finance and Economics (中央財經大
學), Beijing, in 2004. Mr. Zhang is the general manager of the Subscriber, Zhejiang Hua Hang Investment Company 
Ltd.* (浙江華航投資有限公司), and the managing director of Visionmax Co., Ltd. (景隆資產管理（北京）有限公司).

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhang did not hold any other position in the Company or in any other subsidiaries of 
the Group. In the last three years, Mr. Zhang did not hold any directorships in other listed public companies or any 
other major appointments. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhang is not connected to any Director, senior management 
or substantial or controlling shareholder of the Company.

As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Zhang was not interested nor deemed to be interested in any shares or underlying 
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck, aged 46, was initially appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director on 14 March 
2012 and was last re-appointed on 30 May 2014. Mr. Kuan has more than 20 years of experience in the fields of 
accounting and auditing as well as business and financial advisory.

From 1994 to 2004, Mr. Kuan had worked with various international accounting firms in Singapore and Malaysia. 
Since 2004, Mr. Kuan has been managing his own accounting practice, CT Kuan & Co, and business consulting 
companies, KCT Consulting Pte. Ltd. and Kreston Consulting Pte. Ltd., which provided business and financial 
consulting services.

Mr. Kuan graduated with a Bachelor degree in Accountancy from the Nanyang Technological University in Singapore 
in 1993; he also obtained a Bachelor degree in law from the University of London in 2004 as an external student. 
Mr. Kuan is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom and a member 
of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants, and was also admitted to the Singapore Bar. Mr. Kuan is also 
an associate of the Chartered Secretaries Institute of Singapore and an associate member of Insolvency Practitioners 
Association of Singapore Limited.

Mr. Kuan is also an independent non-executive director of Green Build Technology Limited, Kori Holdings Limited and 
CNMC Goldmine Holdings Limited, all listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “Singapore 
Exchange”).
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Save as disclosed above, Mr. Kuan did not hold any directorship in any public companies whose securities are listed 
on a stock exchange or any other major appointments in the last three years and does not hold any other position 
in the Company or in any other subsidiary of the Group.

As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Kuan was not interested or deemed to be interested in any Shares or underlying 
Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO and does not have any relationships with any Directors, senior 
management, substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (alias Mr. Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey), aged 40, was initially appointed as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director on 14 March 2012 and was last re-appointed on 30 May 2016. Mr. Ong graduated from 
the National University of Singapore with an LLB (Hons) degree in 2002 and was admitted as an Advocate and 
Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Singapore in 2003. Mr. Ong is a founding partner of JLC Advisors LLP, which 
was established in 2008. He is currently the Managing Partner of the firm and has an active practice in commercial 
litigation and corporate restructuring.

Mr. Ong is also the independent non-executive chairman of Annica Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 5AL), a company 
listed on the Catalist-board of the Singapore Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, Mr Ong did not hold any directorship in any public companies whose securities are listed 
on a stock exchange in the last three years. Mr. Ong does not have any relationship with any director, member of 
senior management, or substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company and does not hold any other position 
in the Company or in any other subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Liu Ji, aged 38, has been appointed as our Independent Non-executive Director since 12 July 2017. Mr. Liu has 
over 14 years of experience in auditing and financial advisory. He is currently the chief financial officer of JLogo 
Holdings Limited. Mr. Liu has been an independent non-executive director of Zheng Li Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 
8283), a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange since November 2016. From September 2011 to October 
2016, Mr. Liu worked at Ellis Botsworth Advisory Pte. Ltd., with his last position as the senior executive director 
and head of corporate advisory services where he is primarily responsible for corporate advisory, fund raising and 
provision of other capital market solutions to private and public companies in the PRC and Southeast Asian region. 
From May 2003 to September 2011, Mr. Liu worked at Deloitte & Touche LLP, with his last position as an audit 
manager, where he was primarily responsible for providing audit, financial reporting and internal control review 
related assurance services.

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor of science degree in applied accounting from Oxford Brookes University in association 
with The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in 2003. He has been qualified as a Chartered Accountant 
of Singapore and is currently a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Liu has not been a director of any other listed companies in Hong Kong or overseas in 
the three years immediately preceding his appointment. Mr. Liu does not hold any other position in the Company 
or in any other subsidiary of the Group and is not connected to any Director, senior management or substantial or 
controlling shareholder of the Company. As at the date of this interim report, Mr. Liu does not have any interests 
in the shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Lim Chwee Heng, aged 54, is the chief technology officer and joined the Group in November 2007. He was 
appointed as an Executive Director on 14 March 2012 and stepped down on 3 April 2013. Mr. Lim has over 20 
years of experience in the engineering industry and is responsible for the overall technological development and the 
acquisition of new technology for the Group. Mr. Lim has been assigned with the task of searching and evaluating 
potential business targets with technology content, transferring and assimilating acquired technology and the 
synergizing and application of the technology to the Group.

Mr. Lim obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Mechanical) from The National University of Singapore in 1988 and a 
Master of Business Administration (Accountancy) from Nanyang Technological University in 1999.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Lim had worked for Hewlett-Packard Singapore (Pte.) Ltd. for 18 years. Mr. Lim’s last 
position was with Hewlett-Packard Singapore (Pte.) Ltd. as operations manager. From May 2006 to August 2007, 
Mr. Lim was the director of operations with R Logic International Pte. Ltd.

Save as disclosed, Mr. Lim does not hold any other positions in the Company or in any other subsidiaries of the 
Group as at 31 December 2016. Mr. Lim does not have any relationships with any Directors, senior management, 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Foo Suan Ping, aged 41, is the Group’s chief financial officer and joined the Group in June 2004. He 
is responsible for the corporate finance function of the Group and matters relating to accounting, financial 
administration and the compliance and reporting obligations of the Group.

Mr. Foo graduated from Ngee Ann Polytechnic with a Diploma in Banking and Financial Services in 1996. He has been 
a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since April 2011 and has also been a non-practising 
member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants since 2007.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Foo worked for Excel Machine Tools Ltd. from February 1999 to July 2003 where he 
was promoted to finance manager and was assigned with the financial and accounting responsibility of that group.

Save as disclosed, Mr. Foo does not hold any other positions in the Company or in any other subsidiaries of the 
Group as at 31 December 2016. Mr. Foo does not have any relationships with any Director, senior management, 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Tay Choon Guan, Jimmy, aged 55, is the Group’s head of operations and marketing for the Asia-Pacific Region 
(excluding the PRC) and joined the Group in October 2006. Mr. Tay is responsible for the day-to-day operations and 
marketing of the Group in the Asia-Pacific Region, excluding the PRC.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Tay was the sales manager of Press Automation Technologies Pte. Ltd. from 1996 to 
2006 and was responsible for managing and generating sales.

Save as disclosed, Mr. Tay does not hold any other positions in the Company or in any other subsidiaries of the 
Group as at 31 December 2016. Mr. Tay does not have any relationships with any Directors, senior management, 
substantial or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chan Kam Fuk, aged 52, is a certified public accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants, a certified practising accountant of CPA (Australia) and a certified tax adviser of the Taxation 
Institute of Hong Kong. Mr. Chan is the sole-proprietor of Dominic K. F. Chan & Co., CPA, an accounting firm in 
Hong Kong with extensive experience in finance, auditing and accounting.

Mr. Chan is currently an independent non-executive director of Haitian Energy International Limited (formerly known 
as Haitian Hydropower International Limited) (Stock Code: 1659), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange (previously listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 8261). He was previously an independent 
non-executive director of Luks Group (Vietnam Holdings) Company Limited (Stock Code: 366), a company listed on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present the annual report together with the audited financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the subsidiaries 
are set out in Note 1 to the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s 
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at 
that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 126 to 127 and pages 53 to 55 respectively. The Directors 
have recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK2.36 cents per Share for the year ended 31 December 2017 
(2016: HK2.36 cents per Share), subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming AGM. Based on the issued 
share capital, it is expected that the total amount of final dividend payable to our shareholders is HK$16,968,000 
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$16,968,000). Expected payout date of the proposed final dividend 
if approved at the AGM, is on or around 27 July 2018. The Company will make further announcement(s) as soon 
as practicable on the closure of register of members in order to determine the entitlement to attend the AGM and 
in order to determine the entitlement to the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and the potential future development of the Group’s business 
is set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 3 to 5 of this annual report.

The performance analysis using key financial performance indicators is set out in the Management Discussion and 
Analysis on pages 7 to 16 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS OF THE GROUP

The risks and uncertainties facing our business which the Directors consider as material include firstly, the potential 
loss of distributorship of the products which we supply. The scopes of our distributorship vary from different 
manufacturers and some of the distributors are of non-exclusive natures which allow the manufacturers to appoint 
our competitors as their distributors as well. Moreover, some manufacturers may terminate our distributorship at 
any time since some of the distribution agreements have not set out the period of our appointments.

We have collaborations with various international machinery manufacturers, if any of such collaborations was 
for whatever reason terminated, we would lose our revenue from these collaborations, and in such an event, our 
profitability and results of our operations would be adversely affected.

We are also exposed to the credit risks of our customers and may face long turnover period in respect of trade 
receivables since we grant our customers different credit periods according to business segments which is in line 
with the industry norm and the general range of credit period can be from 60 to 270 days or even up to 360 days. 
Due to the nature of our business, we do not have continuous long term business relationships with our customers 
since the majority of orders received from our customers are on a project basis.
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A comprehensive analysis of the Group’s risk factors is set out on pages 29 to 45 of the prospectus of the Company 
dated 20 March 2012. The financial risks are also covered in Note 33 to the financial statements in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS THAT HAVE A SIGNIFICANT 
IMPACT ON THE GROUP

The Company has fully complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code for the year 
ended 31 December 2017, as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for the following:

1. Code provision A.2.1 – This code provision stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should 
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

Our Company currently does not have a separate chairman and chief executive and Mr. Wong Koon Lup, a founder of 
the Group, currently holds both positions. The Board believes that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive 
in the same individual provides the Group with strong and consistent leadership and allows for more effective and 
efficient planning of our long-term business strategies.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATION DISCLOSURE PURSUANT TO RULE 13.18 OF THE 
LISTING RULES

Under the terms and conditions of the notes and perpetual securities issued by CW Advanced Technologies Pte. Ltd. 
on 25 June 2015, there is a covenant requiring Mr. Wong Koon Lup, Mr. Wong Mun Sum and their Immediate Family 
Members (as defined below) to continuing holding in aggregate (whether directly or indirectly) of at least 25% of 
the issued share capital of the Company. “Immediate Family Members” means the father, mother, siblings, wife, 
son(s) and daughter(s) of Mr. Wong Koon Lup and Mr. Wong Mun Sum, if and where applicable. For details, please 
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 2 June 2015.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

For the purpose of disclosing the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) information in accordance with the 
ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, the Company has engaged an external consultant, CSR 
Asia, to identify material ESG issues of the Group and assist in the reporting of the Group’s performance based on its 
ESG management approach, strategy, priorities and objective. The ESG report will be dispatched to the shareholder 
of the Company and will be published on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange in due course. For 
details of the Company’s environmental policies and performance and its compliance with the relevant laws and 
regulations in the environmental and social aspects, please refer to the ESG report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in Note 16 to the 
financial statements.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Particulars of the borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 23 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s issued share capital during the year are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements. 
There were no movements in either the Company’s authorized or issued share capital during the year.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or laws of the Cayman Islands where 
the Company was incorporated.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

On 26 April 2017, 4 July 2017 and 11 October 2017, the Company did a partial redemption of our Notes issued 
of S$15,000,000 (approximately HK$87,873,000), S$2,250,000 (approximately HK$13,181,000) and S$2,500,000 
(approximately HK$14,646,000) respectively. As at the date of this announcement, the aggregate principal amount 
of the Notes outstanding is S$55,250,000 (approximately HK$321,599,000).

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and Note 37 to the financial statements respectively. The Company’s reserve available for 
distribution to shareholders comprises the share premium reserve of HK$535,867,000 (31 December 2016: 
535,867,000) and the profit for the year of HK$17,165,000 (2016: HK$17,042,000). Under the Companies Law 
(as revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of the Company may be applied by the Company subject to 
the provisions of its memorandum and articles of association, in such manner as the Company may from time to 
time determine, including paying distributions or dividends to members provided that no distribution or dividend 
may be paid to members out of the share premium account unless, immediately following the date on which the 
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the 
ordinary course of business.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for 90.5% (2016: 72.7%) of the 
total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 32.4% (2016: 27.1%). 
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 71.1% (2016: 74.4%) of the total purchases for 
the year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 17.1% (2016: 26.2%). None of 
the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the 
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five 
largest customers or suppliers of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Koon Lup
Mr. Wong Mun Sum
Mr. Lee Tiang Soon

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (alias Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey)
Mr. Liu Ji (appointed on 12 July 2017)
Mr. Chan Hon Chung Johnny (resigned on 12 July 2017)

In accordance with article 108 and article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wong Koon Lup, Mr. Kuan Cheng 
Tuck and Mr. Liu Ji will retire from office as Directors at the forthcoming AGM. Mr. Wong Koon Lup, Mr. Kuan 
Cheng Tuck and Mr. Liu Ji being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM. At the AGM, 
ordinary resolutions will be proposed to re-elect them as Directors.

Independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr. Ong Su Aun, 
Jeffrey (Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey) and Mr. Liu Ji, and as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent 
under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 27 to 32 of 
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our existing Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial term of 
three years which commenced on 13 April 2012, which was subsequently renewed on 1 July 2015, and is subject to 
termination by either party giving not less than three months’ written notice. Mr. Lee Tiang Soon who was appointed 
as an Executive Director with effect from 3 April 2013, entered into a service contract with the Company on that 
date for an initial term of three years and was subsequently renewed on 1 July 2015. It is subject to termination by 
either party giving not less than three months’ written notice.

Our Non-Executive Director has entered into a service contract with the Company for a term of three year which 
commenced on 3 February 2016 and is subject to termination by either party giving not less than three months’ 
written notice.

Each of our Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck, Mr. Ong Su Aun (Alias Wang Ci’An, 
Jeffrey) and Mr. Chan Hon Chung Johnny (resigned on 12 July 2017) has entered into a letter of appointment with 
the Company for a term of three year which commenced on 13 April 2012, which was subsequently renewed on 1 
July 2015, and Mr. Liu Ji has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years on 
12 July 2017. All these letters of appointment are subject to termination by either party giving not less than three 
months’ written notice. These service contracts or letters of appointment of the Executive Directors and Independent 
Non-executive Directors are exempted from the shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule 13.68 of the Listing 
Rules.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract or letter of appointment with 
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other 
than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Board has the general power of determining the Director’s remuneration, subject to authorization of the 
shareholders of the Company at the AGM each year.

The remuneration and other emoluments are determined by the Board by recommendation of the Remuneration 
Committee with reference to the duties, responsibilities and performance of the Directors and the results of the 
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in Note 12 to the financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 
of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES 
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ITS ASSOCIATED 
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors and Chief Executive of the Company in 
the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning 
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) which have been 
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including 
interests and short positions which they are deemed or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which 
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or pursuant to 
the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules are as follows:

Name of Director Nature of interest
Number of 

Ordinary shares (1)

Percentage of 
the total issued 
share capital of 

the Company
    

Mr. Wong Koon Lup(2) Interest in controlled corporation 161,300,000 (L) 22.43%
Beneficial owner 39,440,425 (L) 5.49%

Mr. Wong Mun Sum(3) Beneficial owner 37,928,340 (L) 5.28%
Mr. Lee Tiang Soon(4) Beneficial owner 6,164,170 (L) 0.86%

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the long position in such shares and the letter “S” denotes the short position in such shares.

(2) Mr. Wong Koon Lup, an Executive Director of the Company, owned 80% of the shares in WMS Holding Pte. Ltd.. Mr. 

Wong Koon Lup is deemed to be interested in 161,300,000 shares held by WMS Holding Pte. Ltd. under Part XV of the 

SFO. Mr. Wong Koon Lup held 28,714,769 shares and 10,725,656 unexercised share options pursuant to the share option 

scheme of the Company adopted on 14 March 2012. Details of the share option scheme and options granted under the 

Scheme are set out on pages 39 to 42 of this annual report.

(3) Mr. Wong Mun Sum held 29,709,446 shares and 8,218,894 unexercised share options pursuant to the share option scheme 

of the Company adopted on 14 March 2012. Details of the share option scheme and options granted under the Scheme 

are set out on pages 39 to 42 of this annual report.
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(4) Mr. Lee Tiang Soon held 6,164,170 unexercised share options pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company 

adopted on 14 March 2012. Details of the share option scheme and options granted under the Scheme are set out on 

pages 39 to 42 of this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or Chief Executive of the Company had any 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations which had to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Division 7 and 8 of Part 
XV of the SFO or which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to 
therein or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS 
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, the persons or entities who have interests or short positions in the shares and underlying 
shares of the Company which have been disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part 
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of 
the SFO are as follows:

Name Capacity and nature of interest
Number of 

ordinary shares

Percentage of 
the total issued 
share capital of 

the Company
    

WMS Holding Pte. Ltd Beneficial owner 161,300,000 (L) 22.43%
Mr. Wong Koon Lup(2)(3) Interest in controlled corporation 161,300,000 (L) 22.43%

Beneficial owner 39,440,425 (L) 5.49%
Ms. Lou Swee Lan(3) Family Interest 200,740,425 (L) 27.92%
Mr. Wong Mun Sum(2) Beneficial owner 37,928,340 (L) 5.28%
New South Group Limited Beneficial owner 112,885,747 (L) 15.70%
Shenzhen Hua Hang Xin 
 Investment Center Limited Partnership*
 (深圳市華航鑫投資中心（有限合夥))(4) Beneficial owner 107,848,935 15.00%
AVIC Trust Co., Ltd.*
 (中航信託股份有限公司)(4) Interest in controlled corporation 107,848,935 15.00%
AVIC Capital Co., Ltd.*
 (中航資本控股股份有限公司)(4) Interest in controlled corporation 107,848,935 15.00%

Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the long position in such shares and the letter “S” denotes the short positions in such shares.

(2) Mr. Wong Koon Lup and Mr. Wong Mun Sum, both executive Directors of the Company, owned 80% and 20% of the 

shares in WMS Holding Pte. Ltd., respectively. Mr. Wong Koon Lup is deemed to be interested in the 161,300,000 Shares 

held by WMS Holding Pte. Ltd., under Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Wong Koon Lup and Mr. Wong Mun Sum held 10,725,656 

and 8,218,894 unexercised share options respectively, pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company adopted 

on 14 March 2012, under which they are entitled to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,725,656 and 8,218,894 Shares 

respectively, at an exercise price of HK$2.09 in accordance with the relevant terms of the grant.
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For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 18 December 2014 and 19 December 2014.

(3) Ms. Lou Swee Lan is the spouse of Mr. Wong Koon Lup. Ms. Lou Swee Lan is deemed to be interested in all the Shares 

and the underlying Shares in which Mr. Woon Koon Lup has interests in under Part XV of the SFO.

(4) AVIC Trust Co., Ltd.* (中航信託股份有限公司) owned 99.77% of the shares in Shenzhen Hua Hang Xin Investment Center 

Limited Partnership* (深圳市華航鑫投資中心（有限合夥)). AVIC Capital Co., Ltd.* (中航資本控股股份有限公司) owned 67% 

of the shares in AVIC Trust Co., Ltd.* (中航信託股份有限公司). Both AVIC Trust Co., Ltd.* (中航信託股份有限公司) and AVIC 

Capital Co., Ltd.* (中航資本控股股份有限公司) are deemed to be interested in the shares held by Shenzhen 
Hua Hang Xin Investment Center Limited Partnership* (深圳市華航鑫投資中心（有限合夥)) under Part XV of 
the SFO.

* For identification purposes only

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors are not aware of any other persons (who is not a 
Director or the Chief Executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares 
of the Company which would be required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 
3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) conditionally 
approved by a written resolution of the shareholders passed on 14 March 2012 and adopted by a resolution of the 
Board on 14 March 2012 (the “Adoption Date”). The terms of the Share Option Scheme are in accordance with 
the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

“Date of Grant” means date of grant of the Option in accordance with the Scheme;

“Grantee” means any Eligible Person (as defined below) who accepts an offer of grant of any Option in accordance 
with the terms of the Scheme of (where the context so permits) a person who is entitled, in accordance with the 
laws of succession, to any Option in consequence of the death of the original Grantee;

“Option” means a right to subscribe for Shares granted pursuant to the Scheme;

“Option Period” means the period of time where the Grantee may exercise the Option, which period shall not be 
more than 10 years from the Date of Grant; and

“Shares” means shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital of the Company (or of such other nominal amount as shall 
result from a sub-division, consolidation, reclassification or reconstruction of the share capital of the Company from 
time to time).

(a) Who may join

The Directors may at their absolute discretion grant Options to all Directors (whether executive or non 
executive and whether independent or not), any employee (whether full-time or part-time), any consultant 
or advisor of or to the Company or the Group (whether on an employment or contractual or honorary basis 
and whether paid or unpaid), who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have contributed to the Company 
or the Group and each of the persons mentioned above is referred to as an “Eligible Person”.
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(b) Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide person(s) and parties working for the interests of the Group with 
an opportunity to obtain an equity interest in the Company, thus linking their interests with the interests 
of the Group and thereby providing them with an incentive to work better for the interests of the Group.

(c) Duration and administration

The Scheme shall continue in force for the period commencing from the Adoption Date and expiring at the 
close of business on the tenth anniversary of the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Period”), after which period 
no further Options shall be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all 
other respects in respect of Options remaining outstanding and exercisable on the expiry of the Scheme Period.

The Scheme shall be subject to the administration of the Board whose decision (save as otherwise provided 
in the Scheme) shall be final and binding on all parties.

(d) Grant of Options

An offer of the grant of an Option shall be made to an Eligible Person in writing in such form as the Board 
may from time to time determine specifying, inter alia, the maximum number of Shares in respect of which 
such offer is made and requiring the Eligible Person to undertake to hold the Option on the terms of which 
it is to be granted and to be bound by the provisions of the Scheme and shall remain open for acceptance 
by the Eligible Person to whom the offer is made for a period of 28 days (or such other period as the Board 
may determine) from the date upon which the offer is issued provided that no such offer shall be open for 
acceptance after the expiry of the Scheme Period or after the Scheme has been terminated in accordance 
with the terms of the Scheme.

On and subject to the terms of the Scheme, the Board shall be entitled at any time during the Scheme Period 
to offer to grant an Option to any Eligible Person as the Board may at its absolute discretion select, and 
subject to such conditions and restrictions as the Board may think fit.

An offer shall be deemed to have been accepted when the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the 
Option, duly signed by the Eligible Person, together with the remittance of HK$1 in favour of the Company, 
irrespective of the number of Shares in respect of which the Option is accepted, as consideration for the 
grant is received by the Company.

The Date of Grant shall be the date on which the offer relating to such Option is duly approved by the Board 
in accordance with the Scheme.

(e) Price sensitive information

No offer of Options shall be made after a price sensitive development has occurred or a price sensitive matter 
has been the subject of a decision, until such price sensitive information has been published by the Company. 
In particular, during the period commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier of (i) the date of 
the Board meeting for the approval of the Company’s interim or annual results, and (ii) the deadline of the 
Company to publish its interim or annual results announcement under the Company’s listing agreement, and 
ending on the date of the results announcement, no Options may be granted. The period during which no 
Option may be granted will cover any period of delay in the publication of a results announcement.
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(f) Grant of Options to connected persons

A grant of Option(s) to a connected person (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company under the Scheme 
must be approved by the Independent Non-executive Directors (excluding any Independent Non-executive 
Director who is the relevant Grantee).

Where any Options granted to a substantial shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) or an Independent 
Non-executive Director of the Company or its associates or any of their respective associates would result in 
the number and value of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options already granted and 
to be granted (including Options exercised, cancelled and outstanding but excluding Options which have 
lapsed) to such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant (i) exceeding in 
aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (ii) exceeding an aggregate value, (based on the closing price 
of the Shares on the Stock Exchange at the Date of Grant) in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of 
Options must be approved by the shareholders by taking of a poll in a general meeting. The Company must 
send a circular to the shareholders. All connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company 
must abstain from voting (except that any connected person may vote against the relevant resolution at the 
general meeting provided that his intention to do so has been stated in the circular) at the general meeting. 
The circular must contain: (i) detail of the number and terms (including the Subscription Price (as defined 
below) of the Options to be granted to each Eligible Person, which must be fixed before the general meeting 
concerned; (ii) a recommendation from the Independent Non-executive Directors (excluding any independent 
non-executive Director who is the relevant Grantee) to the independent shareholders as to voting; and (iii) 
the information required under the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

(g) Maximum number of Shares available for subscription

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options 
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other schemes of the Company must not exceed 
in aggregate 30% of the Shares of the Company in issue from time to time (the “Overall Scheme Limit”). 
No Option may be granted under any schemes of the Company (or its subsidiaries) if such grant will result 
in the Overall Scheme Limit being exceeded. The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise 
of all Option to be granted under the Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate exceed 10% of 
the Shares of the Company (or the subsidiary) in issue immediately following the completion of the Global 
Offering (excluding the exercise of Over-allotment Option) and the Capitalization Issue, being 61,641,700 
Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”) for this purpose. Option lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 
Scheme shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit.

Subject to the Overall Scheme Limit, the Company may seek approval from its shareholders in general 
meeting for “refreshing” the “Scheme Mandate Limit”. However, the total number of Shares which may be 
issued upon exercise of all Options to be granted under all of the schemes of the Company under the limit 
as “refreshed” must not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of the date of approval by the shareholders 
of the renewed limited (the “Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit”). Option previously granted under 
any existing schemes (including those outstanding, cancelled or lapsed in accordance with the Scheme or 
exercised Options) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit. 
The Company must send a circular to its shareholders containing the information required under the relevant 
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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Subject to the Overall Scheme Limit, the Company may seek separate approval from its shareholders in a 
general meeting for granting Options to subscribe for Shares beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit or the 
Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit (as the case may be) provided that the Option in excess of the Scheme 
Mandate Limit or the Refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit are granted only to Eligible Persons specifically 
identified by the Company before such approval is sought and the Company must send a circular to its 
shareholders containing the information specified in the relevant provisions of the Listing Rules. Unless 
approved by shareholders in general meeting at which the relevant Eligible Person and his associates abstain 
from voting in the manner prescribed by the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, the total 
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted to such Eligible Person 
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding Options) in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of 
the Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit”) at such time. With respect to any further grant of Options 
to an Eligible Person exceeding in aggregate the Individual Limit, the Company must send a circular to its 
shareholders and the circular must disclose the identity of the Eligible Person, the number and terms of the 
Options to be granted (and Options previously granted to such Eligible Person), and the information required 
under the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The number and terms (including the 
Subscription Price) of Options to be granted to such Eligible Person must be fixed before the general meeting 
at which the same are approved, and the date of the Board meeting for proposing such further grant should 
be taken as the Date of Grant for the purpose of calculating the Subscription Price.

(h) Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular Option shall be such price as the Board may at its absolute 
discretion determine at the time of the grant of the relevant Option (and shall be stated in the letter 
containing the offer of the grant of the Option (the “Subscription Price”)), but in any case the Subscription 
Price must be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotations sheet on the Date of Grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the 
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business days immediately 
preceding the Date of Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares. For the purpose of calculating the 
Subscription Price where the Company has been listed for less than five (5) business days, the issue price 
of the Shares at the time of Listing shall be used as the closing price of any business day falling within the 
period before Listing.
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OPTIONS GRANTED UNDER THE SCHEME

Details of the Options granted and outstanding for the year ended 31 December 2017, are as follows:

Number of Options granted:

Directors, eligible employees & 
a consultant of the Group

At 
1 January 

2017

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Lapsed or 
cancelled 

during 
the year

At 
31 December 

2017
Date of 
grant

Date of 
Exercise

Exercise 
price (HK$)

Validity 
period

          

Wong Koon Lup 
 (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

10,725,656 – – – 10,725,656 17/12/2014(1) 9/7/2015(2) 2.09 Please refer to 
 Note 3 below

Wong Mun Sum (Chief Operating Officer) 8,218,894 – – – 8,218,894 17/12/2014(1) 9/7/2015(2) 2.09 Please refer to 
 Note 3 below

Lee Tiang Soon 6,164,170 – – – 6,164,170 17/12/2014(1) 2.09 Please refer to 
 Note 3 below

Eligible employees 9,862,672 – – – 9,862,672 17/12/2014(1) 2.09 Please refer to 
 Note 3 below

A consultant of the Group 6,164,170 – – – 6,164,170 17/12/2014(1) 2.09 Please refer to 
 Note 3 below

Notes:

(1) The closing price of HK$2.04 per share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date 
of grant.

(2) The closing price of HK$3.98 per share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date 
of exercise.

(3) The Options are exercisable within a period of 5 years from the date of grant subject to the vesting schedule set out below.

The Options to the grantees shall be exercisable in three equal tranches and subject to the following vesting periods:

(a) The first 33.33% of the shares under the Options shall be vested and exercisable from 1 March 2015;

(b) The next 33.33% of the shares under the Options shall be vested and exercisable from 1 March 2016; and

(c) The remaining 33.33% of the shares under the Options shall be vested and exercisable from 1 March 2017.
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Valuation of Options granted:

The total fair value of the Options granted as at the date of the grant is approximately HK$27.0 million.

The following assumptions using Binomial Options pricing model were adopted to determine the fair value of the 
options on the grant date:

Granted on 
17 December 2014

  

Underlying share price HK$2.04

Exercise price HK$2.09

Expected life of Options 2.6 years – 3.6 years

Expected volatility 37.8% – 43.8%

Expected annual dividend yield 0.656%

Risk free rate 0.62% – 0.94%

Based on the fair value of the Options granted, the Option expenses that will be recorded in the statement of 
comprehensive income of the Group for the financial years ended 31 December 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 are: 
HK$2,051,408, HK$18,106,786, HK$5,997,740 and HK$806,146, respectively.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business in which the Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow 
subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the year. No controlling shareholder of the Company had a material 
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance (whether for the provision of services to the 
Company or not) to the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during 
the year.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS AND COMMITMENTS

Details of loans and borrowings of the Group as of 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 23 to the financial 
statements. Details of commitments of the Group as of 31 December 2017 are set out in Note 34 to the financial 
statements.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES, 
FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ACQUISITION OF CAPITAL ASSETS

On 29 December 2017, SG (BVI) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Purchaser”) and an 
independent third party, Brownstone Investments Limited (the “Vendor”) entered into a conditional sale and 
purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire and the Vendor has 
conditionally agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of Brownstone Investments Limited at an aggregate cash 
consideration of EUR 15 million. For details, please refer to the announcement at dated 11 January 2018.

Save as disclosed above, during the year, the Group did not have any material acquisitions or investments and 
affiliated companies during the year ended 31 December 2017. Save as disclosed above, as at the date of the Report, 
the Group does not have any plans for material investments or acquisition of capital assets in the coming year. The 
Company will make further announcement in accordance with the Listing Rules if any material investments and 
acquisition opportunities become materialised.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

So far as is known to the Directors, the Group was not involved in any litigation, arbitration or claims of material 
importance and there was no litigation or claims of material importance pending or threatened by or against the 
Company during the year ended 31 December 2017.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

Details of the foreign exchange risk management of the Group are set out in Note 33(b)(i) to the financial statements.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant subsequent events which have occurred since 31 December 2017 up to the date of this 
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The details of the related party transactions are set out in Note 35 to the financial statements. The related party 
transactions disclosed in Note 35 to the financial statements do not constitute connected transactions or continuing 
connected transactions that are not exempt from annual reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it has complied with the 
relevant requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

The Company entered into a non-competition agreement with Mr. Wong Koon Lup, Mr. Wong Mun Sum and 
WMS Holding Pte. Ltd. (the “Covenantors”) on 14 March 2012 (the “Non-Competition Agreement”), pursuant 
to which, the Covenantors provided certain non-competition undertakings to the Company. Pursuant to the 
Non-Competition Agreement, the Directors who do not have a material interest in the Non-Competition Agreement 
are responsible for reviewing the implementation of the undertakings under the agreement on an annual basis. 
During the year, the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company have reviewed the implementation of 
the Non-Competition Agreement and have confirmed that the Covenantors have been in full compliance with the 
Non-Competition Agreement and there was no breach by the Covenantors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed, during the year and up to the date of this report, none of the Directors is considered to have 
interests in a business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the 
Group and has any other conflicts of interest, as required to be disclosed under the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained sufficient public float for the year ended 31 December 2017.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the accounting principles and practices adopted by the 
Group and discussed internal control and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited financial 
statements.

AUDITOR

A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming 
AGM.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company will make further announcement(s) as soon as practicable on the closure of register of members 
in order to determine the entitlement to attend the AGM and in order to determine the entitlement to the final 
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chairman

Hong Kong
3 April 2018
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To the shareholders of CW Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CW Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 53 to 127, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) (which also 
include International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (the “IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed 
the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included 
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address 
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (cont’d)

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue Recognition – Gross versus Net Basis

The Group recognised revenue on a gross basis when 
selling the equipment to its customers as a principal 
and on a net basis when it distributes equipment as an 
agent on behalf of the principals.

The evaluation of whether the Group was a principal 
or an agent as to determine whether gross or net basis 
should be adopted required significant judgement. It 
was because in making this judgement, management 
was required to evaluate whether the Group had 
met the criteria as set out in the relevant standards, 
including but not limited to having discretions in the 
selection of suppliers, setting of selling prices, bearing 
customer credit risk and inventory risks and whether 
the Group was the primary obligor in the arrangement.

Related disclosures were included in notes 4 and 6 to 
the financial statements.

We discussed with management to obtain an 
understanding of the Group’s sale and purchase 
arrangements. We performed audit procedures 
including, amongst others, reviewing the sales 
contracts, customers’ orders, corresponding purchases 
contracts, and purchase orders to assess whether the 
Group has discretion in setting selling prices, bore 
customer credit risk and inventory risk and whether 
the Group was the primary obligor in the arrangement.

We have also assessed internal controls regarding 
revenue recognition, including gross or net recognition.

Impairment of Trade Receivables

Trade receivable balances were significant to the Group 
as they represented 61% of the total assets as at 
31 December 2017. The trade credit period ranged 
from 30 days to 360 days, and the overdue trade 
receivables represented 39% of total trade receivables 
as at 31 December 2017. In addition, trade receivables 
impairment assessment required significant management 
judgement.

The collectability of trade receivables was a key element 
of the Group’s working capital management, which was 
managed on an ongoing basis by local management. 
The Group’s management supports subsidiaries in 
setting credit limits for customers.

Related disclosures were included in notes 4 and 20 to 
the financial statements.

We assessed the Group’s processes and controls relating 
to the monitoring of trade receivables and considered 
the aging of trade receivables to identify collection 
risks. We performed audit procedures including, 
amongst others, sending trade receivable confirmations 
and reviewing the collectability by obtaining evidence 
of subsequent receipts of the trade receivables. 
We assessed management’s assumptions used to 
calculate the trade receivable impairment amount, 
notably through analyses of aging of receivables and 
assessment of significant overdue individual trade 
receivables.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs which comprise standards and Interpretations approved by the 
IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or 
to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (cont’d)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be 
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (cont’d)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Law Kwok Kee.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong
3 April 2018
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Consolidated statement of Profit or loss and other ComPrehensive inCome
Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 6 2,337,317 2,462,017
Cost of sales (1,946,991) (1,994,345)

  

Gross profit 390,326 467,672

Other income and gains 6 47,320 10,445
Selling and distribution expenses (12,211) (13,651)
Administrative expenses 7 (54,382) (60,029)
Finance costs 8 (71,368) (61,659)
Other operating expenses – (40,992)
Share of losses from joint ventures 18 (632) (28)

  

Profit before tax 10 299,053 301,758
Income tax expense 11 (49,737) (67,298)

  

Profit for the year 249,316 234,460
  

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to 
 profit or loss in subsequent year:
Exchange difference related to foreign operations 68,213 (13,197)

  

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 68,213 (13,197)
  

Total comprehensive income for the year 317,529 221,263
  

Profit for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the parent 249,316 234,460

  

Profit for the year 249,316 234,460
  

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the parent 317,529 221,263

  

317,529 221,263
  

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders 
 of the parent (HK cents)
 Basic 15(a) 34.68 32.61
 Diluted 15(a) 34.68 32.61
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Year ended 31 December 2017

Group

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 16 6,068 9,617
Goodwill 17 154 141
Investments in joint ventures 18 12,688 13,320

  

18,910 23,078
  

Current assets
Inventories 19 998 268
Trade receivables 20 2,386,810 2,075,259
Other receivables 21 1,400,062 901,415
Cash and cash equivalents 22 77,431 193,790

  

3,865,301 3,170,732
  

Current liabilities
Loan and borrowings 23 200,996 2,400
Trade payables 24 192,508 122,053
Trade financing and bills payable 25 947,481 774,814
Other payables and accruals 26 41,762 39,422
Finance leases payable 27 3,283 4,575
Notes issued 30 321,599 –
Tax liabilities 152,459 128,827

  

1,860,088 1,072,091
  

Net current assets 2,005,213 2,098,641
  

Total assets less current liabilities 2,024,123 2,121,719
  

Non-current liabilities
Notes issued 30 – 396,254
Finance leases payable 27 532 3,297
Deferred tax liabilities 28 770 714

  

1,302 400,265
  

Net assets 2,022,821 1,721,454
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Year ended 31 December 2017

Group

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 29 7,190 7,190
Retained earnings 1,278,220 1,045,872
Share premium reserve 31 784,158 784,158
Other reserves 31 (46,747) (115,766)

  

Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 2,022,821 1,721,454
 

  

Wong Koon Lup Wong Mun Sum
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended 31 December 2017

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Group
Share 

capital
Retained 
earnings

Share 
premium 

reserve
Other 

Reserves Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(Note 29) (Note 31) (Note 31)

      

Balance at 1 January 2017 7,190 1,045,872 784,158 (115,766) 1,721,454

Profit for the year – 249,316 – – 249,316
Exchange differences related to 
 foreign operations – – – 68,213 68,213

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – 249,316 – 68,213 317,529

     

Share option expense – – – 806 806
Final 2016 dividend – (16,968) – – (16,968)

     

Balance at 31 December 2017 7,190 1,278,220 784,158 (46,747) 2,022,821

Balance at 1 January 2016 7,190 828,380 784,158 (108,567) 1,511,161

Profit for the year – 234,460 – – 234,460
Exchange differences related to 
 foreign operations – – – (13,197) (13,197)

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – 234,460 – (13,197) 221,263

     

Share option expense – – – 5,998 5,998
Final 2015 dividend – (16,968) – – (16,968)

     

Balance at 31 December 2016 7,190 1,045,872 784,158 (115,766) 1,721,454
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Consolidated statement of Cash flows
Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 299,053 301,758

Adjustments for:
 Depreciation 16 4,070 5,882
 Foreign currency realignment 94,855 (26,981)
 Interest income 6 (54) (35)
 Net loss/(gain) on disposal of plant and equipment 1,507 (19)
 Finance costs 8 71,368 61,659
 Reversal of long overdue creditors 6 – (478)
 Allowance for unutilised leave provision 103 30
 Allowance for doubtful debt 20 31 1
 Allowance for impairment of goodwill 17 – 5,221
 (Write-back of)/Provision for impairment 
  of plant and equipment 16 (940) 29,614
 (Write-back of)/Provision for inventory obsolescence 19 (1,885) 4,917
 Share option expense 36 806 5,998
 Share of losses of joint ventures 18 632 28

  

170,493 85,837
  

Cash flows from operating activities before 
 movements in working capital 469,546 387,595
Movements in working capital:
 Trade receivables (311,582) (662,082)
 Other receivables (325,239) 188,210
 Inventories 1,155 (1,502)
 Trade payables 70,455 63,438
 Trade financing and bill payables 172,667 131,907
 Other payables and accruals 2,237 397

  

Cash generated from operations 79,239 107,963
Income taxes paid (26,049) (23,965)

  

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 53,190 83,998
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Consolidated statement of Cash flows
Year ended 31 December 2017

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 6 54 35
Purchase of plant and equipment 16 (408) (4,916)
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 31 –
Advances for patents and trademarks – (77,589)
Net refunds from/(Advances for) potential acquisitions 48,403 (217,578)
Net (deposit to)/refund from escrow fund (204,128) 38,157

  

Net cash flows used in investing activities (156,048) (261,891)
  

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest and finance charges paid (67,232) (57,876)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases 27 (4,057) (4,402)
Repayment of interest-bearing loans 23 (1,489) (1,431)
Proceeds from bank loan 23 200,000 –
Dividend paid (16,968) (16,968)
Redemption of notes issued 30 (115,700) –

  

Net cash flows used in financing activities (5,446) (80,677)
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (108,304) (258,570)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 192,879 444,905
Effect of exchange rate changes, net (8,140) 6,544

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 76,435 192,879
  

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash and bank balances 22 77,431 193,790
Bank overdrafts (996) (911)

  

76,435 192,879
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

CW Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands. The registered office of the Company is located at Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, PO Box 1350, Grand 
Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The Company’s principal place of business is located at 7th Floor, No.9 
Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The Company is an investment holding company.

The principal business activities of the Group include provision of precision engineering solutions, machine 
tool manufacturing and distribution and components manufacturing and distribution.

As at 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Company had direct and indirect interests in its subsidiaries, the 
particulars of which are set out below:

Name of subsidiary

Legal form, 
date and place of 
incorporation/
establishment/
operations

Registered 
capital/

issued and 
fully paid 

share capital

Attributable 
equity 

interest of 
the Group Principal activities

     

Directly held:

SG (BVI) Limited 
 (formerly known as 
 Gaingold Pacific Limited)

Limited liability company
 18 May 2010 
 British Virgin Islands

Ordinary shares
US$100

100% Investment holding

Indirectly held:

SG Tech Holdings Limited Public limited company 
 6 August 2007 
 Singapore

Ordinary shares
S$21,867,698

100% Investment holding

CW Group Pte. Ltd. Limited private company 
 28 May 1996 
 Singapore

Ordinary shares
S$9,651,621

100% Manufacture and sale 
 of dies, moulds, tools, 
 jigs and fixtures and 
 wholesale of industrial 
 machineries and 
 equipment

CW International (S) Pte. Ltd. Limited private company
 20 April 2004
 Singapore

Ordinary shares
S$10,000

100% Investment holding

創興機械設備（上海）有限公司
CW International (Shanghai) 
 Co., Ltd. (1)

Wholly owned foreign 
 enterprise
 18 May 2005
 People’s Republic
 of China (“PRC”)

Registered capital
US$2,500,000
Paid-up capital
US$1,873,478

100% Dealing in industrial 
 machinery and 
 equipment, technical 
 testing and analysis 
 services
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (cont’d)

Name of subsidiary

Legal form, 
date and place of 
incorporation/
establishment/
operations

Registered 
capital/

issued and 
fully paid 

share capital

Attributable 
equity 

interest of 
the Group Principal activities

     

Indirect held: (cont’d)

CW Tech Pte. Ltd. Limited private company
 26 October 2004
 Singapore

Ordinary shares
S$6,351,624

100% Investment holding

Sun-M Energy Pte. Ltd. Limited private company
 17 April 2004
 Singapore

Ordinary shares
US$100,000

100% Investment holding

Sun-M Energy Sdn. Bhd. Wholly owned foreign 
 enterprise
 17 April 2014
 Malaysia

Ordinary shares
RM250,000

100% Manufacturing and 
 trading of solar 
 photovoltaic modules 
 and panels

CW Advanced Technologies 
 Pte. Ltd.

Limited private company
 27 February 2003
 Singapore

Ordinary shares
S$450,000

100% Dealing in industrial 
 machinery and 
 equipment and 
 providing industrial 
 technical consultancy 
 services

塑鼎貿易（上海）有限公司
SD Trading (Shanghai) 
 Co., Ltd. (1)

Wholly owned foreign 
 enterprise
 26 February 2004
 PRC

Registered and
paid-up capital

US$140,000

100% Dealing in industrial 
 machinery and 
 equipment, technical 
 testing and analysis 
 services

CW International (M) Sdn. Bhd. Limited private company
 25 July 2005
 Malaysia

Ordinary shares
RM510,002

100% Inactive

CW Advanced Technologies 
 Limited

Limited liability company
 16 May 2013
 Hong Kong

Ordinary shares
HK$1

100% Dealing in industrial 
 machinery and 
 equipment and 
 providing industrial 
 technical consultancy 
 services

CW Advanced Technologies 
 Europe SA

Limited liability company
 20 March 2014
 Switzerland

CHF$100,000 100% Investment holding

(1) The English translation of the company names is for reference only. The official names of these companies are in 

Chinese.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRSs“) (which include all International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards 
(“IASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The financial statements 
are presented in Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when 
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by 
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee 
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over 
an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, using 
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group 
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the parent 
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there 
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership 
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities 
of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation 
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair 
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of 
components previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained 
profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the 
related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial statements

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to IFRS 12 
 included in Annual 
 Improvements IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: 
 Clarification of the Scope of IFRS 12

None of the above amendments to IFRSs has had a significant financial effect on these financial statements. 
Disclosure has been made in Note 23, Note 27 and Note 30 to the financial statements upon the adoption of 
amendments to IAS 7, which require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements 
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash 
flows and non-cash changes.

The nature and the impact of the amendments are described below:

(a) Amendments to IAS 7 require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements 
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from 
cash flows and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 
is provided in Note 23, Note 27 and Note 30 to the financial statements.

(b) Amendments to IAS 12 clarify that an entity, when assessing whether taxable profits will be available 
against which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference, needs to consider whether tax law 
restricts the sources of taxable profits against which it may make deductions on the reversal of that 
deductible temporary difference. Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how an entity 
should determine future taxable profits and explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may 
include the recovery of some assets for more than their carrying amount. The amendments have had 
no impact on the financial position or performance of the Group as the Group has no deductible 
temporary differences or assets that are in the scope of the amendments.

(c) Amendments to IFRS 12 clarify that the disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other than those disclosure 
requirements in paragraphs B10 to B16 of IFRS 12, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint 
venture or an associate, or a portion of its interest in a joint venture or an associate that is classified 
as held for sale or included in a disposal group classified as held for sale. The amendments have had 
no impact on the Group’s financial statements as the Group did not have any interest that is classified 
as held for sale as at 31 December 2017.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet 
effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
 Payment Transactions1

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 
 Insurance Contracts1

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments1

Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation2

Amendments to IFRS 10 
 and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor 
 and its Associate or Joint Venture4

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

Amendments to IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers1

IFRS 16 Leases2

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property1

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration1

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments2

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts3

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement2

Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures2

Annual Improvements 2014-2016 
 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 1 and IFRS 281

Annual Improvements 2015-2017 
 Cycle

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, IAS 12 and IAS 232

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS (cont’d)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group is described below:

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 in June 2016 that address three main areas: the effects of vesting 
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a 
share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order 
to meet an employee’s tax obligation associated with the share-based payment; and accounting where a 
modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification 
from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the approach used to account for vesting 
conditions when measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to cash-settled share-based 
payments. The amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based payment transaction with net 
share settlement features for withholding a certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation 
is classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction when certain conditions are 
met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-based 
payment transaction are modified, with the result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment 
transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the modification. 
On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective 
application is permitted if they elect to adopt for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group 
will adopt the amendments from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial 
instruments project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9. The standard introduces new 
requirements for classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt 
IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will not restate comparative information and will recognise any 
transition adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018. During 2017, the Group 
has performed a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9. The expected impacts relate 
to the classification and measurement and the impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS 9 will have a significant impact on the 
classification and measurement of its financial assets. It expects to continue measuring at fair value 
all financial assets currently held at fair value. Equity investments currently held as available for sale 
will be measured at fair values through other comprehensive income as the investments are intended 
to be held for the foreseeable future and the Group expects to apply the option to present fair value 
changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income 
for the equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss when the investments are derecognised.
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(b) Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through 
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts 
that are not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9, to be recorded based on 
an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply 
the simplified approach and record lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on the present 
values of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group 
will apply the general approach and record twelve-month expected credit losses that are estimated 
based on the possible default events on its other receivables within the next twelve months. The Group 
expects that the provision for impairment will increase upon the initial adoption of the standard.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and 
in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint 
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of 
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction 
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is 
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that 
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory 
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the IASB in December 2015 
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion of a broader review of 
accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, establishes a new five-step model to account for revenue arising from 
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to 
a customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach for measuring and recognising 
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements, 
including disaggregation of total revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in 
contract asset and liability account balances between periods and key judgements and estimates. 
The standard will supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs. Either a full 
retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption is required on the initial application of 
the standard. In April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 15 to address the implementation 
issues on identifying performance obligations, application guidance on principal versus agent and 
licences of intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are also intended to help ensure 
a more consistent application when entities adopt IFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity of 
applying the standard. The Group will adopt IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018 and plans to adopt the 
transitional provisions in IFRS 15 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment 
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply 
the new requirements only to contracts that are not completed before 1 January 2018. The Group 
expects that the transitional adjustment to be made on 1 January 2018 upon initial adoption of IFRS 
15 will not be material. However, the expected changes in accounting policies, as further explained 
below, will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements from 2018 onwards. During 
2017, the Group has performed an assessment on the impact of the adoption of IFRS 15.
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The Group’s principal activity is on the precision engineering solutions projects, which relates to provision 
of industrial solutions specific to machine tools and industrial machinery and equipment encompassing 
conceptualisation and design to production set-up, commissioning and maintenance of production lines. The 
expected impacts arising from the adoption of IFRS 15 on the Group are summarised as follows:

(a) Integrated turnkey engineering solutions projects (with hardwares and softwares), with full 
installation commissioning and after-sales services

The Group provides integrated turnkey line engineering solutions projects, which are currently 
recognized upon acknowledgements by customers in its totality. Then commissioning and installation 
works are expected to be completed at customers’ sites, before a period of after-sales services 
for our customers, post installation. Based on the Group’s assessment, for integrated turnkey line 
engineering solutions projects contracts, under IFRS 15, a substantial portion of the revenue from 
the integrated turnkey line engineering solutions projects will be recognized at point of acceptances/
acknowledgements, while the remaining portion will be recognized at the point of commission and 
installation.

(b) Transaction price of integrated turnkey line engineering solutions projects

The contracts of integrated turnkey line engineering solutions projects are fixed price contracts, with 
no non-refundable up-front fee. There is no variable consideration in the forms of discounts, rebates, 
refunds, credits, price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses, penalties or other similar items. 
The amount of consideration is not contingent on the occurrence or non-occurrence of a future event, 
for example, a product sold with a right of return or a fixed amount promised as a performance bonus 
on achievement of a specified milestone. The timing of payments agreed to by the parties to the 
contract (either explicitly or implicitly) does not provide the customer or the Group with a significant 
benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer.

(c) Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are more detailed than those under the current 
IAS 18. The presentation requirements represent a significant change from current practice and will 
significantly increase the volume of disclosures required in the Group’s financial statements. Many of 
the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are new and the Group has assessed that the impact of some 
of these disclosure requirements will be significant. In particular, the Group expects that the notes to 
the financial statements will be expanded because of the disclosure of significant judgements made 
on determining the transaction prices of those contracts that include variable consideration, how the 
transaction prices have been allocated to the performance obligations, and the assumptions made to 
estimate the stand-alone selling price of each performance obligation.
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(c) Presentation and disclosure (cont’d)

In addition, as required by IFRS 15, the Group will disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts 
with customers into categories that depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors. It will also disclose information about the 
relationship between the disclosure of disaggregated revenue and revenue information disclosed for 
each reportable segment.

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease, SIC 15 Operating Leases – Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the Substance of 
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the 
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise 
assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions for 
lessees – leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a 
lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing 
the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use 
asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses 
unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a 
class of property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is 
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. 
Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the 
depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease 
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the lease term and change in future 
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments. Lessees 
will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the 
right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the accounting 
under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 
17 and distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to 
make more extensive disclosures than under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using 
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 
from 1 January 2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon adoption and is 
considering whether it will choose to take advantage of the practical expedients available and which 
transition approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in note 34(a) to the financial statements, 
at 31 December 2017, the Group had future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases in aggregate of approximately HK$17,198,000. Upon adoption of IFRS 16, certain amounts 
included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further 
analysis, however, will be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use assets and lease 
liabilities to be recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value 
assets and short term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered 
into before the date of adoption.
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Amendments to IAS 40, issued in December 2016, clarify when an entity should transfer property, including 
property under construction or development, into or out of investment property. The amendments state that 
a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of investment property 
and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of a 
property does not provide evidence of a change in use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to 
the changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity 
first applies the amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of property held at the date that 
it first applies the amendments and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions that exist at 
that date. Retrospective application is only permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The Group 
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to 
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC 22, issued in December 2016, provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction 
when applying IAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays advance consideration in a foreign 
currency and recognises a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date of the 
transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related 
asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary 
asset (such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from the payment 
or receipt of the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising 
the related item, the entity must determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance 
consideration. Entities may apply the interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective basis, 
either from the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation or the 
beginning of the prior reporting period presented as comparative information in the financial statements 
of the reporting period in which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the 
interpretation prospectively from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC 23, issued in June 2017, addresses the accounting for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax 
treatments involve uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain tax 
positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it 
specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax treatments. 
The interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately; 
(ii) the assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how 
an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax 
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied 
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative 
effect of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the 
restatement of comparative information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 
2019. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement 
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control 
of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in joint ventures are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at the 
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments 
are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of the joint ventures 
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, 
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint venture, 
the Group recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and joint ventures are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses 
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of 
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate, the retained interest is not 
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method. In all other 
cases, upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the joint venture upon loss of joint 
control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with 
IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred is 
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business combination, 
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership 
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling 
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts 
of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest is remeasured at its 
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Business combinations and goodwill (cont’d)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not 
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and 
the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, 
the gain is recognised in profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill 
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 
December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from 
the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned 
to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent 
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is 
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is 
measured based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating 
unit retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 
than inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable 
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to 
sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assets of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (cont’d)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that 
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of 
such an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow 
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group 
or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Plant and equipment and depreciation

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of 
an item of plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing 
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the 
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount 
of that asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to 
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and 
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose 
are as follows:

Plant and machinery 6% to 10%
Renovation 9% to 33.33%
Office equipment, furniture and fittings 18% to 33.33%
Computers 18% to 33.33%
Motor vehicles 9% to 20%

Assets under construction are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated 
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives 
and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on 
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference 
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than 
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased 
asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together with the 
obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised 
finance leases are included in plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and 
the estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to profit or loss so as 
to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, 
but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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Leases (cont’d)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under operating 
leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to 
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable 
under operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the 
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and receivables. The Group determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are recognised initially, they 
are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales 
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include trade and other receivables, pledged deposits, and cash and cash 
equivalents.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance income in 
profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in profit or loss in other expenses.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) 
is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation 
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Derecognition of financial assets (cont’d)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a 
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership 
of the assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset 
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent 
of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The 
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations 
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group 
could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events that occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or 
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications 
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in 
interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation 
and observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such 
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually 
for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually 
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed 
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar 
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed 
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included in a 
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not 
yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (cont’d)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account 
and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the 
reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose 
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated allowance are written 
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been 
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an 
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is increased 
or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to 
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and accruals, trade financing and bills 
payable, loans and borrowings, notes issued and finance leases payables.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, 
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case 
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in 
finance costs in profit or loss.
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Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference 
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and 
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position 
cannot be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation 
techniques including the DCF model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. Judgments 
include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out 
basis and, in the case of work-in-progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and 
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any 
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and demand deposits that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include 
bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprises of 
cash on hand and at banks.
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Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided 
that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the 
end of each reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The 
increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in profit or loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain products are recognised based on 
sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as 
appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss 
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and 
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in 
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, and joint 
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Income tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary 
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each 
reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit 
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right 
to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different 
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the 
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, 
it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs 
that it is intended to compensate.
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Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the 
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to 
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services, on the straight-line basis over the specified period of time as further 
explained in the accounting policy for “Rendering of services” below;

(c) commission income for rendering of services is recognised when the services are rendered;

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly 
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or 
a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset;

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease terms; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has been established.

Rendering of services

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised on a straight-line basis over the specified period of 
time as the services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified period of time as 
stated in the service contract.

Employee benefits

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees 
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the 
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the 
rules of the MPF Scheme.

The Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Singapore make contributions to the Central Provident Fund 
(“CPF”) scheme in Singapore based on percentage of the employees’ basic salaries, a defined contribution 
pension scheme. CPF contributions are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service 
is performed.
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Employee benefits (cont’d)

Defined contribution plan (cont’d)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) are 
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. Contributions 
are made based on 20% of the employee’s salary and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable 
in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The assets of the above contribution schemes are held separately from those of the Group in an independently 
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into 
the schemes.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they are accrued to employees. The 
estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting 
period.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a Share Option Scheme (as defined in Note 36) for the purpose of providing 
incentives and rewards to eligible participants. Senior executives of the Group receive remuneration in the 
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render services as consideration for equity instruments 
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which 
they are granted. The fair value of share options is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense, together with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are 
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period 
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate 
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period 
represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when determining the grant 
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s 
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions 
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an 
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are 
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also 
service and/or performance conditions.
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Share-based payments (cont’d)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or service conditions have not 
been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions 
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that 
all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the 
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised 
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial 
to the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and 
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where 
non-vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a 
new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date 
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original 
award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of 
diluted earnings per share.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the 
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing 
of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. 
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and 
articles of association grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim 
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollar which is the Company’s functional 
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included 
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency 
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional 
currency rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting 
period. Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement 
of profit of loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The 
gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the 
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e. translation difference on the item whose 
fair value gain or loss is recognised in the other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in 
other comprehensive income or profit of loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures are currencies other than the Hong 
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated 
into the presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting 
period and their income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollar at the weighted average exchange 
rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive 
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are 
translated into Hong Kong dollar at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently 
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong 
dollar at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements:

(a) Determination of functional currencies

The Group measures foreign currency transactions in the respective functional currencies of the 
Company and its subsidiaries. In determining the functional currencies of the entities in the Group, 
judgement is required to determine the currency that mainly influences sales prices for goods and 
services and of the country whose competitive forces and regulations mainly determines the sales prices 
of its goods and services. The functional currencies of the entities in the Group are determined based 
on management’s assessment of the primary economic environment in which the entities operate and 
the entities’ process of determining sales prices.

(b) Income taxes

The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is involved in 
determining the group-wide provision for income taxes. As at 31 December 2017, there were certain 
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group 
recognises additional tax provision for potential tax exposures in respect of such transactions. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters (and hence the actual and final tax liability) is different from the 
estimated amounts that were provided for, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred 
tax liabilities in the period in which such determination is made. The Group’s current tax liabilities as 
at 31 December 2017 were HK$152,459,000 (2016: HK$128,827,000).

(c) Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue from the sales of equipment on a gross basis as opposed to a net 
basis where the Group has entered into several distributorship agreements to source customers, 
customize and sell such equipment. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms 
and conditions of the arrangements, that revenue should be recognised on a gross basis. In making 
this judgment, the Group evaluates, among other factors, whether the Group has discretions in the 
selection of suppliers and setting of selling prices, bears credit and inventory risks and whether the 
Group is the primary obligor in the arrangement.

(d) Withholding tax provision on profit appropriation

The Group provides for withholding tax of 5% on its PRC subsidiaries’ distributable profits generated 
from 1 January 2008 onwards in compliance with the PRC Corporate Tax Law. The Group has provided 
for such withholding taxes in the form of deferred tax liabilities on the basis that the Group is expected 
to appropriate substantially the profits which the PRC subsidiaries generate in the foreseeable future. 
As at 31 December 2017, the amounts provided were HK$770,000 (2016: HK$714,000).
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Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
each reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

(a) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets 
(excluding goodwill) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment 
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists 
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which 
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value 
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length 
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the 
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management estimates the expected future cash 
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and chooses a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows. A change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount 
rate applied will result in an adjustment to the estimated impairment provision previously made.

(b) Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an 
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. 
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash 
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2017 was 
HK$154,000 (2016: HK$141,000). There was no impairment loss of goodwill for the year ended 31 
December 2017 (2016: HK$5,221,000). Further details are given in Note 17.

(c) Useful lives and residual values of plant and equipment

In determining the useful life and residual value of an item of plant and equipment, the Group has 
to consider various factors, such as technical or commercial obsolescence arising from changes or 
improvements in production, or from a change in the market demand for the product or service output 
of the asset, expected usage of the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and maintenance 
of the asset, and legal or similar limits on the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of 
the asset is based on the experience of the Group with similar assets that are used in a similar way. 
Additional depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or the residual values of items of 
property, plant and equipment are different from the previous estimation. Useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each financial year end based on changes in circumstances. The carrying 
amounts of plant and equipment at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 were HK$6,068,000 
and HK$9,617,000, respectively. Further details are given in Note 16.
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Estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(d) Impairment of receivables

The Group assesses at end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. Factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence of impairment. In 
determining whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group considers whether there 
is observable data indicating that there have been significant changes in the debtor’s payment ability 
or whether there have been significant changes with adverse effect in the technological, market, 
economic or legal environment in which debtor operates in.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows 
are estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. 
The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2017 was 
HK$3,786,872,000 (2016: HK$2,976,674,000). More details are given in Notes 20 and 21.

(e) Allowance for inventory obsolescence

The Group reviews the condition of its inventories and makes provision against obsolete and 
slow-moving inventory items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use. Management 
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices and 
current market conditions.

The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of each reporting period and makes provision 
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management reassesses the estimation at the end of 
each reporting period. The provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventories requires the use 
of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such 
difference will have an impact on the carrying value of inventories and the write-down of inventories 
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have been changed. The carrying amount of the 
Group’s inventories as at 31 December 2017 was HK$998,000 (2016: HK$268,000). More details are 
given in Note 19.
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For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services 
and has five reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) Precision engineering solutions projects – relates to provision of industrial solutions specific to 
machine tools and industrial machinery and equipment encompassing conceptualisation and design 
to production set-up, commissioning and maintenance of production lines.

(b) Sales of Computer Numeric Control (“CNC”) machining centres – relates to sales of precision 
engineering manufacturing equipment operable under CNC automation.

(c) Sales of components and parts – relates to sales of self-manufactured and trading of components and 
parts.

(d) After-sales technical support services – relates to provision of repairs and maintenance services for the 
above segments.

(e) Renewable energy solutions – relates to sales of self-manufactured and trading of solar photovoltaic 
modules and panels.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resources allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before tax. The adjusted 
profit/(loss) before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax except that interest 
income, finance costs, dividend income as well as head office and corporate expenses are excluded from 
such measurement.

Segment assets exclude pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents, and other unallocated head office and 
corporate assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing loans and borrowings, notes issued, tax liabilities, deferred tax 
liabilities and other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a 
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to 
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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Year ended 31 December 2017

Precision 
engineering 

solutions 
projects

Sales of 
CNC 

machining 
centres

Sales of 
components 

and parts

After-sales 
technical 

support 
services

Renewable 
energy 

solutions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 2,254,927 8,016 39,023 32,897 2,454 2,337,317
Intersegment sales – – 2,327 – – 2,327

      

2,254,927 8,016 41,350 32,897 2,454 2,339,644
Reconciliation
Elimination of intersegment sales (2,327)

 

Revenue 2,337,317
 

Segment results 360,753 1,039 2,864 26,032 (362) 390,326
Reconciliation
Interest income 54
Unallocated other income and gains 47,266
Corporate and other unallocated expenses (66,593)
Finance costs (71,368)
Share of losses of joint ventures (632)

 

Profit before tax 299,053
Income tax expense (49,737)

 

Profit for the year 249,316
 

Segment assets 2,317,189 6,335 40,922 26,026 16,455 2,406,927
Reconciliation
Corporate and other unallocated assets 1,477,284

 

Total assets 3,884,211
 

Segment liabilities 1,110,735 1,908 25,701 2,693 201 1,141,238
Reconciliation
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 567,693
Tax liabilities 152,459

 

Total liabilities 1,861,390
 

Other segment information
Depreciation – (371) (494) – (296) (1,161)
Write-back of impairment of 
 plant and equipment – – – – 940 940
Write-back of inventory obsolescence – – – – 1,885 1,885
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Year ended 31 December 2016

Precision 
engineering 

solutions 
projects

Sales of 
CNC 

machining 
centres

Sales of 
components 

and parts

After-sales 
technical 
support 
services

Renewable 
energy 

solutions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers 2,261,166 22,058 9,816 116,307 52,670 2,462,017
Intersegment sales – – 329 – 239 568

      

2,261,166 22,058 10,145 116,307 52,909 2,462,585
Reconciliation
Elimination of intersegment sales (568)

 

Revenue 2,462,017
 

Segment results 365,861 3,928 (4,154) 96,035 6,002 467,672
Reconciliation
Interest income 35
Unallocated other income and gains 10,410
Corporate and other unallocated expenses (114,672)
Finance costs (61,659)
Share of losses of joint ventures (28)

 

Profit before tax 301,758
Income tax expense (67,298)

 

Profit for the year 234,460
 

Segment assets 1,949,809 15,334 12,720 88,560 28,681 2,095,104
Reconciliation
Corporate and other unallocated assets 1,098,706

 

Total assets 3,193,810
 

Segment liabilities 882,379 6,165 7,649 3,559 39 899,791
Reconciliation
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 443,738
Tax liabilities 128,827

 

Total liabilities 1,472,356
 

Other segment information
Depreciation – – (907) – (1,950) (2,857)
Capital expenditure* – – – – (602) (602)
Allowance for impairment of 
 plant and equipment – (16,707) – – (12,907) (29,614)
Allowance for inventory obsolescence – – (919) – (3,998) (4,917)
Allowance for impairment of goodwill – – – – (5,221) (5,221)

* Capital expenditure relates to addition of plant and equipment.
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Reconciliation of other segment information

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Depreciation and amortization
Directly attributable to operating segments (1,161) (2,857)
Corporate and other unallocated depreciation (2,909) (3,025)

  

Total depreciation (4,070) (5,882)
  

Capital expenditure
Directly attributable to operating segments – (602)
Corporate and other unallocated capital expenditure (408) (4,314)

  

Total capital expenditure (408) (4,916)
 

Geographical information

The Group’s revenues from external customers by geographical locations are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 % HK$’000 %

     

Asia Pacific region:
 PRC 4,940 0.2 79,468 3.2
 Singapore 102,863 4.4 195,384 7.9
 Indonesia 588,046 25.2 467,385 19.0
 Malaysia 525,417 22.5 667,856 27.1
 Thailand 816,309 34.9 683,702 27.8
 India 242,984 10.4 323,291 13.1
 Hong Kong – – 3,835 0.2
 Others 1,342 0.1 – –
Europe 55,416 2.3 41,096 1.7

    

Total 2,337,317 100.0 2,462,017 100.0
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)
The Group’s non-current assets (other than goodwill) by geographical locations are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

PRC 5,716 6,933
Singapore 12,691 12,869
Malaysia – 2,754
Switzerland 349 381

  

18,756 22,937
 

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the top five customers were: Siam Technos Co. Ltd (2017: 32.4%, 
2016: 15.4%), Welea Solution (M) Sdn Bhd (2017: 22.5%, 2016: 27.1%), PT. Buana Prima Raya (2017: 
15.1%, 2016: 10.4%), Majaa Machines & Tools Pvt Ltd (2017: 10.4%, 2016: 8.1%) and PT. Abadi Toolsindo 
(2017: 10.1%, 2016: 9.1%) contributing to approximately 90.5% (2016: 70.1%) of the Group’s total revenue 
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade discounts and 
the value of services rendered during the year. An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Revenue
Sale of goods 2,304,420 2,345,710
Rendering of services 32,897 116,307

  

2,337,317 2,462,017
  

Other income
Commission income 6,096 5,885
Consultant fees income 2,798 2,791
Reversal of long overdue creditor – 478
Government grants1 324 417
Compensation from supplier – 411
Rental income 1,129 317
Bank interest income 54 35
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment – 19
Gain on partial redemption of notes issued 8,524 –
Net foreign exchange gain 27,410 –
Write-back of impairment on plant and equipment 940 –
Others 45 92

  

47,320 10,445
 

1 Government grants mainly include Special Employment Credit (“SEC”) for older employees, Temporary Employment 

Credit (“TEC”), childcare leave grants, maternity leave and wage credit scheme from Singapore government. There 

are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidiaries.
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7. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses include:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Depreciation of plant and equipment 3,052 2,622
Employee benefits expenses 10,331 9,638
Share option expenses 806 5,998
Legal and professional fees 10,908 13,359
Auditors’ remuneration 2,366 2,364
Rental expenses 9,174 7,444

 

8. FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Interest on finance leases 302 554
Bank overdraft interest and charges 50 41
Letter of credit and trust receipt charges 32,943 28,389
Interest on notes issued 33,095 32,660
Bank and other finance charges 4,978 15

  

71,368 61,659

9. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Allowance for impairment of goodwill (Note 17) – 5,221
Allowance for impairment of plant and equipment (Note 16) – 29,614
Net foreign exchange loss – 6,157

  

– 40,992
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10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cost of inventories sold 1,942,574 1,985,343
Depreciation of plant and equipment* (Note 16) 4,070 5,882
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss*** (27,410) 6,157
Employee benefits expenses (including directors’ remuneration)** 28,102 30,611
Allowance for doubtful debt (Note 20) 31 1
Allowance for impairment of goodwill*** (Note 17) – 5,221
(Write-back of)/Allowance for inventory obsolescence# (Note 19) (1,885) 4,917
(Write-back of)/Allowance for impairment of 
 plant and equipment (Note 16)*** (940) 29,614
Minimum lease payments recognised as an operating lease ## 10,128 9,845

 

* These amounts are included in “Cost of sales” of HK$1,018,000 (2016: HK$3,260,000) and “Administrative 

expenses” of HK$3,052,000 (2016: HK$2,622,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.

** This amount includes contribution to pension scheme contributions of HK$2,471,000 (2016: HK$2,936,000) and 

share option expense of HK$806,000 (2016: HK$5,998,000).

*** The allowance for impairment of goodwill, allowance for impairment of plant and equipment and net foreign 

exchange loss are included in “Other operating expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.

# These amounts are included in “Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income.

## These amounts are included in “Cost of sales” of HK$954,000 (2016: HK$2,401,000) and “Administrative expenses” 

of HK$9,174,000 (2016: HK$7,444,000) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current tax:
 – Current year 49,714 68,100
 – Under/(over) provision in respect of previous year 23 (802)

  

Income tax attributable to continuing operations 49,737 67,298
 

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions 
in which members of the Group are domiciled and operate.

Taxes on profits assessable in Singapore, Hong Kong, Malaysia and the PRC have been calculated at the 
prevailing tax rates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

Hong Kong income tax

The corporate income tax rate applicable to Hong Kong company of the Group was 16.5% for the year ended 
31 December 2017 (2016: 16.5%).

The actual income tax payable for assessable profits arising from Hong Kong is generally determined and 
agreed with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, which might be different from the income tax 
liabilities as provided in these financial statements.

Singapore income tax

The corporate income tax rate applicable to Singapore companies of the Group was 17% for the year ended 
31 December 2017 (2016: 17%).

The PRC income tax

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 5% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to 
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in the PRC. The requirement is effective 
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. The Group is therefore liable for 
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by its subsidiary established in the PRC in respect of earnings 
generated from 1 January 2008.

Malaysia income tax

The corporate income tax rate applicable to Malaysia company of the Group was 24% for the year ended 
31 December 2017 (2016: 24%). There was no assessable profits derived from or earned in Malaysia for the 
year ended 31 December 2017.
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11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont’d)

The major tax concession applicable to the joint venture established in the PRC are as follows:

Name of joint venture Details of tax concessions
  

KIWA-CW Machine Manufacturing 
 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.

KIWA-CW Machine Manufacturing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. is a foreign 
invested enterprise (FIE) which engages in manufacturing. It has 
tax concession as a high-technology company for the years ended 
31 December 2016 and 31 December 2017 and therefore, it was 
subject to corporate income tax at a reduced rate of 15% for the 
year.

The reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profits multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rates are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit before tax 299,053 301,758
  

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits in the countries 
 where the Group operates 49,314 46,920
Expenses not deductible for tax 6,413 17,560
Under/(Over) provision in respect of previous year 23 (802)
Income not subject to tax (7,684) (760)
Effect of tax incentives (270) (1,030)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 1,758 5,403
Others 183 7

  

Income tax expense for the year 49,737 67,298
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and 
(f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about 
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fees 1,183 1,182
  

Other emoluments:
 – Salaries and bonuses 5,724 5,327
 – Equity-settled share option expense 548 4,073
 – Pension scheme contributions 208 231

  

6,480 9,631
  

7,663 10,813
 

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees of the independent non-executive directors during the year are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Mr. Kuan Cheng Tuck 506 506
Mr. Ong Su Aun, Jeffrey (Wang Ci’An, Jeffrey) 338 338
Mr. Chan Hon Chung, Johnny 176 338
Mr. Liu Ji 163 –

  

1,183 1,182
 

There are no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive directors during the year 
(2016: Nil).
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12. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive director

Salaries Fees Bonuses

Equity-settled 
share options 

expenses

Pension 
scheme 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2017
Executive directors:
 Mr. Wong Koon Lup 2,048 – – 249 69 2,366
 Mr. Wong Mun Sum 2,017 – – 199 70 2,286
 Mr. Lee Tiang Soon 1,490 – – 100 69 1,659

      

5,555 – – 548 208 6,311

Non-executive director:
 Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng* – 169 – – – 169

      

5,555 169 – 548 208 6,480
      

2016
Executive directors:
 Mr. Wong Koon Lup 1,992 – 159 1,851 97 4,098
 Mr. Wong Mun Sum 1,433 – 113 1,481 67 3,095
 Mr. Lee Tiang Soon 1,433 – 113 741 67 2,354

      

4,858 – 385 4,073 231 9,547

Non-executive director:
 Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng* – 84 – – – 84

      

4,858 84 385 4,073 231 9,631

* Mr. Zhang Bing Cheng was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company on 3 February 2016.

There is no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during 
the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016.

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, no remuneration was paid by the Group to a 
director as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees with the highest remuneration in the Group for the years ended 31 December 
2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Directors 6,311 9,547
Employees 2,919 3,570

  

9,230 13,117
 

The five highest paid employees for the year ended 31 December 2017 included three directors (2016: three), 
details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 12 above. Details of the remaining two non-directors 
(2016: two), highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company for the 
years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries 2,388 2,331
Bonuses 274 181
Equity-settled share option expenses 119 889
Pension scheme contributions 138 169

  

2,919 3,570
 

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following band is 
as follows:

2017 2016
   

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 2
  

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the five 
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of 
office. None of the five highest paid individuals has waived any remuneration during the years ended 31 
December 2017 and 2016.
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14. DIVIDENDS
2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Declared and paid during the financial year
Dividend on ordinary shares:
Final dividend for 2016: HK2.36 cents 
 (2015: HK2.36 cents) per share 16,968 16,968

  

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December
Dividend on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’ 
 approval at the Annual General Meeting:
Final dividend for 2017: HK 2.36 cents 
 (2016: HK 2.36 cents) per share1 16,968 16,968

 

1 Expected payout date of the proposed final dividend, if approved at the Annual General Meeting, is on or around 
27 July 2018.

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 
PARENT
(a) Earnings per share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 
718,993,000 (2016: 718,993,000) in issue during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount is based on the profit for the year attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the 
calculation is the number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic earnings per 
share calculation, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued 
at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into 
ordinary shares.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share amount presented for the year ended 
31 December 2017 in respect of a dilution as the exercise price of the outstanding share options 
exceeds the average market price of the Company’s ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per shares are based on:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Earnings
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, 
 used in the basic and diluted earnings per share calculation 249,316 234,460

 

No. of shares No. of shares
000 000

   

Shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during 
 the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation 718,993 718,993
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16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and 
machinery Renovation

Office 
equipment, 

furniture 
and fittings Computers

Motor 
vehicles Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Cost
At 1 January 2017 39,953 11,236 4,452 2,168 2,820 60,629
Exchange differences 3,504 1,004 394 197 267 5,366
Additions – 40 279 89 – 408
Disposal (1,297) (165) (790) (81) – (2,333)

      

At 31 December 2017 42,160 12,115 4,335 2,373 3,087 64,070

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2017 34,998 8,933 3,506 1,815 1,760 51,012
Exchange differences 3,161 832 323 174 165 4,655
Charge for the year (Note 10) 2,501 865 212 202 290 4,070
Disposal (357) (71) (302) (65) – (795)
Write-back of Impairment (Note 6) (940) – – – – (940)

      

At 31 December 2017 39,363 10,559 3,739 2,126 2,215 58,002

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 2,797 1,556 596 247 872 6,068

      

Cost
At 1 January 2016 40,751 9,113 4,259 1,967 2,033 58,123
Exchange differences (1,514) (559) (119) (46) (142) (2,380)
Additions 716 2,682 312 268 938 4,916
Disposal – – – (21) (9) (30)

      

At 31 December 2016 39,953 11,236 4,452 2,168 2,820 60,629

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2016 7,815 3,856 3,405 1,500 1,645 18,221
Exchange differences (2,053) (449) (74) (49) (80) (2,705)
Charge for the year (Note 10) 4,253 895 175 364 195 5,882
Impairment (Note 9) 24,983 4,631 – – – 29,614

      

At 31 December 2016 34,998 8,933 3,506 1,815 1,760 51,012

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2016 4,955 2,303 946 353 1,060 9,617
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16. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)
Assets held under finance leases

At 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of the Group’s assets held under finance leases amounted to 
HK$1,005,460 (2016: HK$2,984,000).

Impairment of assets

In 2016, subsidiaries of the Group within the renewable energy solutions and sales of CNC machining centres 
segments carried out reviews of the recoverable amounts of their plant and equipment because they have 
been persistently making losses. An impairment loss of HK$29,614,000, representing the write-down of 
these plant and equipment to the recoverable amount, was recognised in the line item of “Other operating 
expenses” (Note 9) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in 
the financial year ended 31 December 2016. In 2017, there was a write-back of impairment on plant and 
equipment of HK$940,000 due to a subsequent disposal at a higher recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of production equipment within the renewable energy solutions segment was 
determined based on its fair value less cost of disposal, which was measured using comparable market prices. 
The recoverable amount of production equipment within the sales of CNC machining centres segment was 
determined based on its value in use and the discount rate used was 17% (2016: 17%). Certain renovations 
arising from these subsidiaries were also written down in 2016 as their recoverable amounts were estimated 
to be nil.

17. GOODWILL
HK$’000

  

Cost:
 At 1 January 2016 5,197
  Exchange difference (83)

 

 At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 5,114
  Exchange difference 476

 

 At 31 December 2017 5,590
 

Accumulated impairment:
 At 1 January 2016 –
  Impairment during the year (Note 10) 5,221
  Exchange difference (248)

 

 At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 4,973
  Exchange difference 463

 

 At 31 December 2017 5,436
 

Net carrying amount:
 At 31 December 2016 141

 

 At 31 December 2017 154
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17. GOODWILL (cont’d)

The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated to cash generating units (“CGUs”) as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

CW Advanced Technologies Pte. Ltd. 154 141
Sun M Energy Pte. Ltd. – –

  

154 141
 

The recoverable amounts of the above CGUs were determined based on value-in-use calculations which use 
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the management for the next financial years, 
and the discount rate of 17% (2016: 17%) per annum for those financial years reported. These growth rates 
did not exceed the average long-term growth rates for the relevant markets.

Management estimated the discount rates using pre-tax rate that reflected current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the individual CGUs. The growth rates were based on industry 
growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs were based on past practices and expectations 
of future changes in the relevant markets.

In 2016, an impairment loss of HK$5,221,000 was recognised to write down the carrying amount of goodwill 
allocated to the Sun M Energy Pte. Ltd. CGU. The impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income under the line item “Other operating expenses” (Note 10).
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18. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Investments, at cost 9,277 9,277
Share of post-acquisition reserves 3,411 4,043

  

Carrying amount 12,688 13,320
 

Particulars of the joint ventures are as follows:

Name of entity

Legal form and 
place of incorporation/
establishment/
operations

Percentage of 
ownership interest 

and voting power held Principal activities

2017 2016
% %

     

KIWA-CW Machine 
 Manufacturing Pte. Ltd.

Limited private company 
 Singapore

50 50 Investment holding

紀和機械製造（上海）有限公司 
 KIWA-CW Machine Manufacturing 
 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (1)

Foreign enterprise 
 PRC

50 50 Manufacturing and trading 
 of CNC machining centres

Dominic Schindler Creations 
 (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (2)

Limited private company 
 Singapore

50.1 50.1 Industrial design activities 
 and design solution 
 consultancy work

上海斯程科技有限公司(3) 
Shanghai Sicheng Technology 
 Co., Ltd.(1)

Limited liability company 
 PRC

50 50 Import and export activities, 
 robotics, CNC machineries, 
 technical consultancy services, 
 technology transfers, 
 jigs and fixtures

FFG-CW Southeast Asia 
 Pte. Ltd. (4).

Limited private company 
 Singapore

50 – Engineering design and 
 consultancy activities

(1) The English translation of the company name is for reference only. The official name of the company is in Chinese.

(2) Incorporated on 28 June 2016

(3) Incorporated on 28 December 2016

(4) Incorporated on 6 September 2017.
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18. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES (cont’d)
The summarised financial information of the joint ventures of KIWA-CW Machine Manufacturing Pte. Ltd. 
and KIWA-CW Machine Manufacturing (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., not adjusted for the proportion of ownership 
interests held by the Group, is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cash and cash equivalents 3,511 1,328
Other current assets 48,157 25,238

  

Current assets 51,668 26,566
  

Non-current assets 9,287 10,047
  

Current liabilities 31,467 11,717
  

Non-current liabilities 2,404 –
  

Net assets 27,084 24,896
 

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the joint venture:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture 13,542 12,448
Translation differences (1,199) (223)

  

Carrying amount of the investment 12,343 12,225
  

Revenue 69,264 47,081
Interest income 15 14
Depreciation and amortisation (1,451) (1,793)
Income tax expense – (67)
Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 118 (55)

 

Aggregate information about the Group’s investments in joint ventures that are not individually material are 
as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Carrying amount of the investment 345 1,095
  

(Loss)/Profit and total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (750) 27
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19. INVENTORIES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial position:
Raw materials (at cost) – 14
Finished goods (at cost or net realisable value) 998 254

  

998 268
  

Profit or loss:
Inventories recognised as expense in cost of sales 
 inclusive of the following charge: 1,942,574 1,985,343
 – (Write-back of)/Allowance for inventory obsolescence (Note 10) (1,885) 4,917

  

Movement in allowance for inventory obsolescence account:
At 1 January 4,897 361
(Write-back)/Write-down during the year (1,885) 4,917
Exchange differences 456 (381)

  

At 31 December 3,468 4,897
 

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade receivables 1,708,815 1,137,316
Less: Allowance for doubtful debt (291) (236)

  

1,708,524 1,137,080

Accrued revenue 678,286 938,179
  

2,386,810 2,075,259
 

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit except for certain new customers where 
payment in advance is required. The average trade credit period ranged from 30 days to 360 days. The Group 
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances are reviewed regularly 
and actively monitored by senior management to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly 
by management. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing.

Accrued revenue represents amounts due from customers with respect to machinery and equipment delivered 
to customers or where customers have taken over the ownership of the equipment for which billings have 
not been performed.

Included in the trade receivables of HK$410,640,000 (2016: HK$313,805,000) have been pledged to secure 
the Group’s trade financing and bill payables as set out in Note 25.



CW GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED • Annual Report 2017 105

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

The aging analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the financial year, based on the invoice date (net 
of allowance for doubtful debts and excluding accrued revenue) is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 to 90 days 593,628 546,322
91 to 180 days 574,043 336,899
181 to 360 days 535,731 253,311
Over 360 days 5,122 548

  

1,708,524 1,137,080
 

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired 
is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Past due but not impaired
 – Less than 3 months past due 502,741 350,282
 – 3 months to 6 months past due 364,732 132,182
 – 6 months to 12 months past due 60,033 3,970
 – More than 12 months past due 1,325 537

  

928,831 486,971
Neither past due nor impaired 779,693 650,109

  

1,708,524 1,137,080
 

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversified customers for whom 
there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the opinion 
that no allowance for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant 
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

The movements in allowance for the doubtful debt are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 1 January 236 240
Impairment during the year (Note 10) 31 1
Exchange differences 24 (5)

  

At 31 December 291 236
 

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in financial difficulties or were in 
default in payments and only a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

Included in trade receivables are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currencies of the relevant companies of the Group:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Singapore dollar – 114
United States dollar 2,831 4,807
Euro 5,119 1,234
Japanese yen 421 401

 

21. OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Other receivables 100,048 29,931
Deposits 2,564 3,077
Prepayments for expenses 1,918 1,183
Prepayments for patents and trademarks 148,460 147,368
Prepayments to suppliers 506,166 252,959
Funds held in an escrow account 465,786 245,067
Advances/deposits for potential acquisitions 169,175 217,578
Tax rebates 251 –
Amount due from joint venture 5,694 4,252

  

1,400,062 901,415
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21. OTHER RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

Included in other receivables in 2016 were amounts of approximately HK$26,663,000 relating to the remaining 
proceeds from the acquirer of a disposed business segment in 2014, which were fully repaid in 2017.

The Group entered into strategic co-operations with various working partners, who will identify and introduce 
suitable potential merger and acquisition opportunities in Europe to the Group. On 29 December 2017, the 
Group announced that it had entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement to acquire a target 
company for an aggregate consideration of EUR 115 million (approximately HK$1,081 million), which is to 
be satisfied over two tranches. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 11 January 2018 for 
more information.

As at 31 December 2017, total deposits paid to the vendor and/or placed in an escrow account in relation 
to the proposed acquisition amounted to approximately HK$634,961,000, which approximates tranche 1 of 
the acquisition, as detailed in the announcement dated 11 January 2018.

The amounts due from joint venture are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above balances 
relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

Included in other receivables are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currencies of the relevant companies of the Group:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Singapore dollar – 172,562
United States dollar 194,565 135,326
Euro 93,795 4,693
Japanese yen 1,595 –
Hong Kong dollar 1,270 1,170

 

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.
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22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cash on hand 38 49
Bank balances 76,861 193,281
Pledged fixed deposits 532 460

  

77,431 193,790
Bank overdrafts (Note 23) (996) (911)

  

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 76,435 192,879
  

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Pledged deposits earn interest 
at the respective short-term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited with 
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Included in cash and cash equivalents are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currencies of the relevant companies of the Group:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

United States dollar 393 1,223
Euro 1,675 2,524
Japanese yen 66 570
Hong Kong dollar 301 7,794
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23. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank overdrafts repayable on demand (Note 22) 996 911
Interest-bearing loan 200,000 1,489

  

200,996 2,400
  

Carrying amount repayable:
 On demand or within one year 200,996 2,400

 

The bank overdrafts bore interest at the higher of (i) the bank’s prime lending rate less 2.00% and (ii) bank’s 
cost of fund during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2017.

The interest-bearing loan bore interest at 3.06% to 3.32% per annum at 31 December 2017 (2016: 4%). 
This loan is secured by corporate guarantee given by the Company.

Included in loans and borrowings were the following amounts denominated in currency other than the 
functional currencies of the relevant group companies:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong dollar 200,996 2,400
 

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Cash flows
2016 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Loans and borrowings 1,489 198,511 200,000
   

1,489 198,511 200,000
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24. TRADE PAYABLES

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade payables 180,723 94,235
Accrued payables 11,785 27,818

  

192,508 122,053
 

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on 90-day terms.

The aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the financial year, based on the invoice date 
(excluding accrued payable) is as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

0 to 90 days 113,787 56,453
91 to 180 days 30,727 9,034
181 to 360 days 10,147 15,334
Over 360 days 26,062 13,414

  

180,723 94,235
 

Included in trade payables are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional 
currencies of the relevant companies of the Group:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Singapore dollar 574 525
United State dollar 386 1
Euro 12,140 865
Japanese yen 131 552
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25. TRADE FINANCING AND BILLS PAYABLE

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Trade financing and bills payable 947,481 774,814
 

Trade financing and bills payable to the banks generally would mature within 180 days for the years ended 
31 December 2017 and 2016. The interest rates range from 1.27% to 4.44% (2016: 2.70% to 3.57%) 
per annum. Certain trade financing and bills payable were secured over trade receivables amounting to 
approximately of HK$410,640,000 (2016: HK$313,805,000) as set out in Note 20.

Included in trade financing and bills payable are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than 
the functional currencies of the relevant companies of the Group:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

United States dollar – 2,410
Euro 108,182 2,790
Japanese yen 1,595 –

 

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Other payables 10,845 13,685
Deposits received 11,838 10,031
Accrued expenses 16,778 15,706
Dividend payable 2,301 –

  

41,762 39,422
 

The other payables are non-interest-bearing.

Included in other payables and accruals are the following amounts denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currencies of the relevant companies of the Group:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Singapore dollar 8,741 5,470
United States dollar 152 3,872
Euro 1,488 5,165
Hong Kong dollar 1,012 2,781
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27. FINANCE LEASES PAYABLE

Minimum lease payments
Present value of minimum 

lease payments

2017 2016 2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Amounts payable:
Within one year 3,368 4,837 3,283 4,575
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 573 3,889 519 3,285
More than five year 13 12 13 12

    

Total minimum finance leases payments 3,954 8,738 3,815 7,872
Less: Future finance charges (139) (866)

  

Total net finance leases payable 3,815 7,872
 

Portion classified as current liabilities (3,283) (4,575)
  

Non-current portion 532 3,297
 

The Group leased certain of its plant and equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is 4 
years (2016: 4 years). Interest rates underlying all obligations under finance leases were fixed at respective 
contract dates ranging from 2.88% to 10.00% (2016: 4.0% to 9.38%) per annum. All leases were on a fixed 
repayment basis and no arrangements have been entered into for contingent rental payments.

All lease obligations were denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities.

The Group’s obligations under finance leases were secured by the charge over the leased assets.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Cash flows

2016 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Obligations under finance leases
 – Current 4,575 (1,292) 3,283
 – Non-current 3,297 (2,765) 532

   

7,872 (4,057) 3,815
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28. DEFERRED TAX

At the end of the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group has tax losses of approximately 
HK$39,999,000 and HK$35,450,000 respectively, that are available for offset against future taxable profits of 
the companies in which the losses arose, for which no deferred tax asset is recognised due to uncertainty of 
its recoverability. The use of these tax losses is subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance 
with certain provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the companies operate.

The following are the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereof during the years ended 31 
December 2017 and 2016:

Undistributed 
profits of PRC 

subsidiaries
HK$’000

  

At 1 January 2016 762
Exchange differences (48)

 

At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 714
Exchange differences 56

 

At 31 December 2017 770

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign 
investor in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiary effective from 1 January 2008. Deferred taxation 
has been provided for in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of temporary differences 
attributable to the profits earned by CW International (Shanghai) Co., Ltd..
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Authorised:
 10,000,000,000 (2016: 10,000,000,000) 
  ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 100,000 100,000

  

Issued and fully paid:
 718,992,897 (2016: 718,992,897) 
  ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 7,190 7,190

 

30. NOTES ISSUED

Notes issued relate to fixed rate notes amounting to S$75,000,000 (in Singapore dollars) (approximately 
HK$408,497,000) issued by CW Advanced Technologies Pte. Ltd. (the “Issuer”) on 25 June 2015 (the 
“Notes”) under the Multi-currency Debt Issuance Programme (the “Programme”). These Notes are quoted 
on the Singapore Exchange and bear fixed interest rate at 7% per annum (effective interest rate of 7.2% 
per annum), secured through a corporate guarantee by CW Group Holdings Limited and mature on 25 June 
2018. The net proceeds of approximately S$73,200,000 (approximately HK$396,962,000) arising from the 
issue of the Notes under the Programme will be used for general corporate purposes, including refinancing of 
existing borrowings, general working capital requirements, investments (including mergers and acquisitions) 
and/or capital expenditure requirements of the Group.

In April 2017, the Board announced that the Issuer would like to repurchase from the holders of the Notes (the 
“Noteholders”) up to S$15,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of Notes for cash in the open market at 
the repurchase price of 90% of the Notes with accrued interest (the “Repurchase”). The Company appointed 
DBS Bank Ltd. as the buyback agent in relation to the Repurchase. At the end of the repurchase period, the 
Issuer repurchased S$15,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Notes pursuant to the Repurchase.

In June 2017, the Issuer further commenced an invitation to the Noteholders to offer to sell for cash to the 
Issuer up to an aggregate principal amount of S$20,000,000. At the end of the invitation, the Issuer accepted 
for tender S$2,250,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Notes.

In October 2017, the Issuer further commenced an invitation to the Noteholders to offer to sell for cash to 
the Issuer up to an aggregate principal amount of S$20,000,000. At the end of the invitation, the Issuer 
accepted for tender S$2,500,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Notes.

As at 31 December 2017, subsequent to the Repurchase payouts, the aggregate principal amount of the 
Notes outstanding is S$55,250,000 (approximately equivalent to HK$321,599,000).
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30. NOTES ISSUED (cont’d)

The Group has covenanted, amongst others, with the trustee in the trust deed that for so long as any of the 
Notes or coupons remains outstanding, it will ensure that:

i. its consolidated total equity will not at any time be less than HK$700,000,000;

ii. the ratio of its consolidated net debt to its consolidated total equity shall not at any time be more 
than 1.75:1;

iii. the ratio of its consolidated EBITDA to its consolidated interest expense in respect of any test period 
shall not be less than 2.5:1 for that test period; and

iv. the ratio of its consolidated secured debt to its consolidated total assets shall not at any time be more 
than 0.6:1.

Test period means each period of 12 months ending on the last day of each half-year of the financial years 
of the Group.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

A reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:

Cash flows Non-cash item

2016 Amortisation

Foreign 
exchange 

movement Others 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Notes issued
 – Current – – – – 321,599 321,599
 – Non-current 396,254 (115,700) 4,136 36,909 (321,599) –

      

396,254 (115,700) 4,136 36,909 – 321,599

The ‘others’ column relates to reclassification of non-current portion of notes issued due to passage of time.



116 CW GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED • Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

31. SHARE PREMIUM AND OTHER RESERVES

(a) Share premium

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At 1 January and 31 December 784,158 784,158
 

(b) Other reserves

2017 2016
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Statutory reserve (i) 2,406 2,406
Foreign currency translation reserve (ii) 23,058 (45,155)
Merger reserve (iii) (4,709) (4,709)
Share option reserve (iv) 22,510 21,704
Premium paid for acquisition of 
 non-controlling interest (90,012) (90,012)

  

(46,747) (115,766)
 

(i) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Foreign Enterprise Law applicable to the subsidiaries of the Group in the 
PRC, the subsidiaries are required to make appropriation to a Statutory Reserve Fund (“SRF”). 
At least 10% of the statutory after tax profits as determined in accordance with the applicable 
PRC accounting standards and regulations must be allocated to the SRF until the cumulative 
total of the SRF reaches 50% of the respective subsidiaries’ registered capital. Subject to 
approval from the relevant PRC authorities, the SRF may be used to offset any accumulated 
losses or increase the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The SRF is not available for dividend 
distribution to shareholders.

(ii) Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents exchange differences arising from translation 
of the financial statements of foreign operations, whose functional currencies are different from 
the Group’s presentation currency.

(iii) Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid and the share capital 
of a subsidiary restructured under common control.

(iv) Share option reserve

The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled share-based 
payments to employees, including key management personnel, as part of their remuneration. 
Refer to Note 36 for further details of this plan.
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32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise 
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, 
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, issue new shares as well as the issue of new 
debt or the redemption of existing debt. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for 
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is defined as the sum of interest-bearing loan and 
borrowings, notes issued, finance leases payable and trade financing and bills payables divided by total assets. 
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Loan and borrowings 200,996 2,400
Notes issued 321,599 396,254
Finance leases payable 3,815 7,872
Trade financing and bills payable 947,481 774,814

  

1,473,891 1,181,340

Total assets 3,884,211 3,193,810
  

Gearing ratio % 37.9 37.0
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at years ended 31 December 
2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Group

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Financial assets
Trade receivables 2,386,810 2,075,259
Other receivables 743,267 499,905
Cash and cash equivalents 77,431 193,790

  

Total receivables carried at amortised cost 3,207,508 2,768,954
  

Financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 200,996 2,400
Trade payables 192,508 122,053
Trade financing and bills payable 947,481 774,814
Other payables and accruals 29,924 29,391
Finance leases payable (current and non-current) 3,815 7,872
Notes issued 321,599 396,254

  

Total liabilities carried at amortised costs 1,696,323 1,332,784

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group has various financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables and trade and 
other payables which arise directly from its operations. The Group does not hold or issue derivative 
financial instruments for speculative purposes. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to 
these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk.

(i) Foreign exchange risk management

The Group’s transacts business in various foreign currencies, including the Singapore dollar, 
United States dollar, Euro, Chinese Renminbi and Japanese yen and therefore is exposed to 
foreign exchange risk.

The Group manages its foreign exchange exposure as far as possible by matching the currencies 
that it transact with its customers to the currencies that it purchased in to create a natural 
hedge.

The Group has a number of investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed 
to currency translation risk. No hedge has been taken up to mitigate this exposure as it does 
not impact cash flows.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional 
currencies are as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Liabilities
Singapore dollar 9,315 5,995
United States dollar 538 3,874
Euro 121,810 8,820
Japanese yen 1,726 552
Hong Kong dollar 1,012 5,181

Assets
Singapore dollar – 172,805
United States dollar 197,789 141,356
Euro 100,589 8,451
Japanese yen 2,082 971
Hong Kong dollar 1,571 8,964

 

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase in the relevant foreign currencies 
against the functional currency of each entity. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting 
foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the possible maximum change in foreign exchange rates of major trading 
currencies. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items with adjusted at the end of the reporting period for a 10% change in foreign 
currency rates.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(i) Foreign exchange risk management (cont’d)

Foreign currency sensitivity (cont’d)

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of each 
entity, with all other variables held constant, profit before tax will increase by:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Impact of:
Singapore dollar (932) 16,681
United States dollar 19,725 13,748
Euro (2,122) (37)
Japanese yen 36 42
Hong Kong dollar 56 378

 

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of the each 
entity, the effects on profit or loss will be vice versa.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign 
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the years ended 
31 December 2017 and 2016.

(ii) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk arises from potential changes in interest rates that may have an adverse effect 
on the Group’s results in the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016 and in future years.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposures to interest rates for 
significant non-derivatives instruments at the end of each reporting period and the stipulated 
change taking place at the beginning of each reporting period and the assumption that the 
interest rates held constant throughout the period in the case of instruments that have floating 
rates.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, it was estimated that a 50 basis point increase in interest 
rates would decrease the Group’s profit before tax by approximately HK$7,400 and HK$6,000 
respectively.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(iii) Credit risk management

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents 
and other receivables arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal 
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy 
that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.

In addition, the credit worthiness of customers, receivables that are past due and aggregate 
risks to individual customers are regularly reviewed and monitored by the key management 
team (which comprises the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating Officer).

Excessive risk concentration

Concentration arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, 
or activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their 
ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political 
or other conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Group’s performance 
to development affecting a particular industry.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include 
specific guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentration of 
credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 
30% (2016: 19%) and 90% (2016: 70%) of the Group’s trade receivables (excluding accrued 
revenue) were due from the Group’s largest customer and the largest five customers respectively.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade 
receivables are disclosed in Note 20.

(iv) Liquidity risk management

Liquidity risk reflects the risk that the Group will have insufficient resources to meet its financial 
liabilities as they fall due. In the management of the liquidity risks, the Group actively manages 
its debt maturity profile, operating cash flows and availability of funding so as to ensure that all 
refinancing, repayment and funding needs are met. As part of its overall liquidity management, 
the Group maintains sufficient level of cash to meet its working capital requirement. In addition, 
the Group strives to maintain available banking facilities of a reasonable level to its overall 
debt position.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(v) Non-derivative financial liabilities

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the financial year, based 
on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

On demand or 
within 1 year

Within 2 to 
5 years Total

Group HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
    

31 December 2017
Bank loans and overdrafts 204,189 – 204,189
Trade payables 192,508 – 192,508
Trade financing and bills payable 980,158 – 980,158
Other payables and accruals 29,924 – 29,924
Notes issued 333,177 – 333,177
Finance leases payable 3,368 586 3,954

31 December 2016
Bank loans and overdrafts 2,464 – 2,464
Trade payables 122,053 – 122,053
Trade financing and bills payable 800,200 – 800,200
Other payables and accruals 29,391 – 29,391
Notes issued – 424,784 424,784
Finance leases payable 4,837 3,901 8,738

(c) Fair value and fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument 
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or 
liquidation sale.

Cash and bank balances, pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, financial assets included 
in other receivables and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals approximate to 
their carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of loan, notes issued and finance leases payables are 
reasonable approximation of fair values either due to the relatively short term nature or that they 
are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or near the end of the 
reporting period.
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34. OPERATING LEASES

(a) As lessee

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases
 Premises 9,997 9,713
 Office equipment 131 132

  

10,128 9,845
 

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of rented premises and office equipment which fall 
due as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year 8,004 9,350
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 9,194 8,740

  

17,198 18,090
 

(b) As lessor

At 31 December 2017, the Group had future lease receivables under a non-cancellable operating lease 
in respect of the sublease of its office premise, which falls due as follows:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Within one year – 1,267
In the second to fifth years, inclusive – 106

  

– 1,373
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

(a) Transactions with related parties

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group did not enter into significant 
transactions with related parties.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties

An analysis of the balances with related parties is as follows:

Due from related parties (Other receivables)

2017 2016
Name of related party Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
    

KIWA-CW Machine Manufacturing 
 (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (i) 5,694 4,252
Escrow fund placed with a director-related entity (ii) 465,786 245,067

  

471,480 249,319
 

Notes:

(i) Joint venture.

(ii) An escrow fund placed with an entity, of which an independent non-executive director of the Company is 

a partner.

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Due to related parties (Other payables)

2017 2016
Name of related party Note HK$’000 HK$’000
    

Mr. Wong Koon Lup, a director of the Company 8 8
Mr. Wong Mun Sum, a director of the Company 300 529
Dominic Schindler Creations (Singapore) Pte. Ltd (i) 587 537
Shanghai Sicheng Technology Co., Ltd. (i) 577 558

  

1,472 1,632

Notes:

(i) Joint ventures.

The amounts due to related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (cont’d)

(c) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of the Company’s directors, who are also identified as members of key management 
of the Group, is set out in Note 12.

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

In 2014 (“Grant Date”), the Group granted 49,929,777 share options (the “Options”) to certain eligible 
participants of the Company (the “Grantees”), subject to the acceptance of the Options by the Grantees, 
to subscribe for a total of 49,929,777 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company. 
The Options shall entitle the Grantees to subscribe for an aggregate of 49,929,777 ordinary shares upon the 
exercise of the Options in full at an exercise price of HK$2.09 per share. These options expire on 17 December 
2019. The contractual term of each option granted is five years. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 
The Group does not have a past practice of cash settlement for these share options.

The expense recognised for employee services received during the year is shown in the following table:

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Expense arising from equity-settled share-based payment 
 transactions (Note 7) 806 5,998

 

There was no cancellation or modification to the awards as at 31 December 2017.

Movement of share options during the financial year

The following table illustrates the number (No.) and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and 
movements in, share options during the financial year:

2017 2016
No. WAEP ($) No. WAEP ($)

     

Outstanding at 1 January and 31 December 41,135,562 2.09 41,135,562 2.09
  

Exercisable at 31 December 41,135,562 2.09 7,849,044 2.09
 

– The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of the options exercised during the financial 
year was nil (2016: nil).

– The exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was HK$2.09. The weighted average 
remaining contractual life for these options is 1.96 years (2016: 2.96 years).
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Year ended 31 December 2017

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the end of the financial year is as 
follows:

Company

2017 2016
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 9 22
Investment in subsidiaries 47 47

  

56 69
  

Current assets
Other receivables 793,447 891,694
Cash and cash equivalents 362 95

  

793,809 891,789
  

Current liabilities
Loan and borrowings 200,000 –
Other payables and accruals 40,006 339,002

  

240,006 339,002
  

Net current assets 553,803 552,787
  

Total assets less current liabilities 553,859 552,856
  

Net assets 553,859 552,856
  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 7,190 7,190
Accumulated losses (7,090) (7,287)
Share premium reserve 535,867 535,867
Other reserves 17,892 17,086

  

Total equity 553,859 552,856
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2017

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (cont’d)

A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2017

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Company
Share 

capital
Accumulated 

losses

Share 
premium 

reserve
Other 

reserves Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 29) (Note 31)
      

Balance at 1 January 2017 7,190 (7,287) 535,867 17,086 552,856

Profit for the year – 17,165 – – 17,165

Total comprehensive income for the year – 17,165 – – 17,165
     

Share option expense – – – 806 806
Final 2016 dividend – (16,968) – – (16,968)

     

Balance at 31 December 2017 7,190 (7,090) 535,867 17,892 553,859
     

Year ended 31 December 2016

Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Company
Share 

capital
Accumulated 

losses

Share 
premium 

reserve
Other 

reserves Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 29) (Note 31)
      

Balance at 1 January 2016 7,190 (7,361) 535,867 11,088 546,784

Profit for the year – 17,042 – – 17,042

Total comprehensive income for the year – 17,042 – – 17,042
     

Share option expense – – – 5,998 5,998
Final 2015 dividend – (16,968) – – (16,968)

     

Balance at 31 December 2016 7,190 (7,287) 535,867 17,086 552,856
     

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 3 April 2018.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

RESULTS
Year ended 31 December

2013(b) 2014 2015 2016 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)
      

Revenue from continuing operations 976,115 1,654,603 2,455,646 2,462,017 2,337,317
Cost of sales (783,750) (1,356,427) (2,043,366) (1,994,345) (1,946,991)

     

Gross profit 192,365 298,176 412,280 467,672 390,326
Other income and gains 7,242 2,690 3,196 10,445 47,320
Selling and distribution expenses (9,514) (10,705) (19,639) (13,651) (12,211)
Administrative expenses (34,725) (42,502) (64,364) (60,029) (54,382)
Finance costs (11,091) (18,094) (48,207) (61,659) (71,368)
Other operating expenses – (2,908) (8,326) (40,992) –
Share of (loss)/profit from joint venture 1,809 2,071 1,205 (28) (632)

     

Profit before tax 146,086 228,728 276,145 301,758 299,053
Income tax expense (27,114) (41,821) (55,916) (67,298) (49,737)

     

Profit for the year from 
 continuing operations 118,972 186,907 220,229 234,460 249,316
Profit from discontinued operation 10,973 117,515 – – –

     

Profit for the year 129,945 304,422 220,229 234,460 249,316
     

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent 129,945 304,422 220,229 234,460 249,316

     

129,945 304,422 220,229 234,460 249,316
 

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As at 31 December

2013 (b) 2014 2015 2016 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Restated)
      

Total assets 1,386,314 1,685,964 2,751,346 3,193,810 3,884,211

Total liabilities (695,587) (723,791) (1,240,185) (1,472,356) (1,861,390)
     

690,727 962,173 1,511,161 1,721,454 2,022,821
 

Notes:

(a) Certain amounts shown here do not correspond to the 2010, 2011 & 2012 financial statements and reflect adjustments for 
the adoption of IFRS 11 which take effect as of 1 January 2013. IFRS 11 required joint ventures to be accounted for using 
the equity method. Prior to the adoption of IFRS 11, the Group’s share of the joint venture’s assets, liabilities, revenue, 
income and expenses were proportionately consolidated in the consolidated financial statements under IAS 31.

(b) Amount shown here reflect changes in accounting standard IFRS 5.
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